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Chairman’s Statement

R

On behalf of the board of directors (“Directors”) (the “"Board”) of
Bestway International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”), | am pleased to
present herewith the annual report of the Company and the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2015.

BUSINESS REVIEW
Capital structure

On 15 May 2014, the Company completed the subscription of
150,000,000 new shares at the subscription price of HK$0.56 per
subscription share under Specific Mandate on 8 May 2014. The
150,000,000 new shares represented about 16.74% of the issued
share capital of the Company prior to the placing and about 14.34%
of the enlarged share capital of the Company immediately after
the subscription. The directors believe that the above fund raising
exercise provided an opportunity to broaden the shareholder base and
strengthened the capital base of the Group. The net proceeds derived
from the Subscription is approximately HK$83,700,000, of which up to
RMB57.5 million (equivalent to approximately HK$71,875,000) will be
used for the joint venture (the "JV") set up by the Company to develop
the business relating to medical devices and equipment in the PRC.

After experiencing two unsuccessful fund raising exercises, on 13 June
2015, the Company entered into a Placing Agreement pursuant to
which the Company has conditionally agreed to place, through Grand
Cartel Securities Company Limited, the Placing Agent, on a best effort
basis, a maximum of 205,000,000 Placing Shares to independent
investors at the Placing Price of HK$0.88 per Placing Share. The
Directors are of the view that the Placing offers the Company a good
opportunity to raise funds and to enlarge the shareholders base of
the Company and strengthen the Group’s financial position. The
Board considers the Placing is in the interest of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole. On the assumption that the Placing Shares
are fully placed, the net proceeds from the Placing of approximately
HK$177.60 million will be applied by the Group as general working
capital and for potential acquisition activities as identified by the Group
from time to time. Please refer to the announcement dated 15 June
2015 for more details.
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Chairman’s Statement
ENE &

Trading of goods

The Group recorded a revenue of HK$7,632,000 (2014: HK$2,255,000)
which represented an increase in turnover of approximately 238% over
the corresponding period last year. Gross profit margin had increased
to 40.41% (2014: 8.56%). The increase of revenue and gross profit
margin was mainly due to the commencement of business in trading
of medical equipments during the year. The net loss attributable
to the owners of the Company was approximately HK$58,027,000
(2014: HK$6,894,000). The increase in the loss was mainly derived
from impairment loss on mining rights of HK$65,937,000 together
with a tax effect of HK$16,484,000 credited to profit and loss and the
increase in the Group’s administrative expenses. The Group's basic loss
per share for the year was HK5.65 cent (2014: HK0.85 cent).

Mining Business

Same as per past years, the Group still holds four tungsten mining
licenses through two wholly owned Mongolian subsidiaries.
Kainarwolfram LLC owns properties under Mining Licenses 11863A,
11027A and 5518A, which are located in the territory of Nogoonnuur
Soum, Bayan-Ulgii province and Ikh Uuliin Erdenes LLC owns the
property under the Mining License 3506A, which located in the
territory of Nogoonnuur Soum, Bayan-Ulgii province. In order to
enhance the communication with province government of Mongolia,
the Company newly appointed Mr. Jiang Lixin as the sole director
of both the Mongolian subsidiaries. During the year Mr. Jiang and
our consultant Ms. Yang Lee have met with a leader of Bayan-Ulgii
province to understand the mining site situation. With reference to
the opinion from the Group’s Mongolian legal advisers, the Directors
are of the opinion that the Group is in compliance with all laws and
governmental rules and regulations in Mongolia and the Group's 4
mining rights are still in effect and in good standing as at the reporting
date. Meanwhile, the Board re-assessed the recoverable amount of
the Mining CGU as at the end of the reporting period and details of
the impairment assessment are set out in Note 14 to the financial
statements.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Details of segment information of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2015 are set out in note 6 to the financial statements.
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Chairman’s Statement

R

FUTURE PLAN AND PROSPECTS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENT OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated
20 March 2014 in relation to, among others, the memorandum of
understanding (the “"MQOU") for establishing a Joint Venture entered
into between Mr. Li Yougiang (“Mr. Li”) who has approximately 17
years of experience in medical industry, in particular in the sale,
distribution and after-sales services of medical devices and equipment,
in the PRC.

The Joint Venture was established in May 2014 with its business license
obtained in August 2014. The registered capital of the Joint Venture
was contributed as to 75% by the Group and as to 25% by Mr. Li in
cash. The Joint Venture has commenced its medical devices trading
business in October 2014.

Looking forward, with regard to the increasing of aging population,
increasing urbanization, increasing government spending in health care
in PRC, the Group will capture the opportunities from the development
of the medical industry and will make investments in new acquisitions
or business ventures when suitable opportunities arise in the future
that will benefit the Company's long-term development.

Meanwhile, the Group will keep a conservative attitude in the mining
business in Mongolia and closely monitor the market conditions as well
as consider other options such as realization of the investment should
the opportunities arise. The Group will strive to achieve sustainable
growth and deliver satisfactory returns to shareholders of the Company
(the “Shareholders”).

For the purpose of attaining long term growth and maximising
the Shareholders’ wealth, the Directors will continue to explore
all potential opportunities to broaden the Group’s income and
development.

APPRECIATION

I would like to extend my gratitude to the members of the Board, our
management team and staffs for their loyality and dedication during
the past year. On behalf of the Board, | wish to convey our most
sincere appreciation of the staunch support to our Group from all of
our customers and suppliers and during the year.

By order of the Board
Hu Yebi
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 June 2015
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 March 2015 was
approximately HK$7,632,000 and the administrative expenses for
the year ended 31 March 2015 were approximately HK$10,861,000,
which represented an increase of 46% compared to the administrative
expenses incurred in last year.

The loss attributable to the owners of the Company for the year
ended 31 March 2015 was HK$58,027,000, as compared a loss
HK$6,894,000 in the previous year. The increase in the loss was mainly
derived from impairment loss on mining rights of HK$65,937,000
together with a tax effect of HK$16,484,000 credited to profit or loss
and the increase in the Group’s administrative expenses.

CURRENT AND GEARING RATIOS

As at 31 March 2015, the Group’s bank balances and cash amounted
to HK$97,361,000 (as at 31 March 2014: HK$24,514,000).
The Group’s net assets value amounted to approximately
HK$625,813,000 (as at 31 March 2014: HK$596,952,000) with
total assets approximately HK$775,054,000 (as at 31 March
2014: HK$764,244,000). Net current assets were approximately
HK$101,497,000 (as at 31 March 2014: HK$23,288,000). The current
ratio was 57.01 times (as at 31 March 2014: 7.89 times) and gearing
ratio was 0.19 times (as at 31 March 2014: 0.22 times) represented on
the basis of total liabilities over total assets.

CHARGES ON GROUP'’S ASSETS

As at 31 March 2015, no assets of the Group are charged to secure the
borrowings and banking facilities (as at 31 March 2014: Nil).
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Management Discussion and Analy81s
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2015, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities (as at 31 March 2014: Nil).

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURE

The Group did not have any significant exposure to and did not hedge
against risks associated with foreign currency fluctuation.

EMPLOYEE INFORMATION

As at 31 March 2015, the Group had approximately 13 full time
managerial and administrative employees (2014: 11). The Group
affords competitive remuneration packages to its employees based on
prevailing and industry practice. Compensation policies are reviewed
regularly and are designed to reward and motivate productivity and
performance.

DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in
respect of the year ended 31 March 2015 (2014: Nil).
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Biographical Details of Directors
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. HU Yebi (“Mr. Hu"), aged 51, was appointed as an executive
Director and Chairman of the Board of the Company on 11 July
2014. He received his MBA from International Management School
of the Netherlands in Delft, Holland and Postgraduate Diploma in
Management Engineering from Beijing Institute of Technology in
Beijing, China. Mr. Hu has more than 25 years’ experience in securities
and financial services, merger and acquisition and corporate finance.
Mr. Hu is a licensed person registered under the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (the “SFO") to carry on regulated activities on Dealing in
Securities and Advising on Corporate Finance, and he is currently the
responsible officer of Vision Finance International Company Limited, a
registered institution licensed to carry on Type 1 (Dealing in Securities)
and Type 6 (Advising on Corporate Finance) of the regulated activities
under the SFO. Prior to that, Mr. Hu was the managing director, equity
capital markets of DBS Asia Capital Ltd, a subsidiary of DBS Bank
Limited (previously known as the Development Bank of Singapore
Ltd.) from 14 March 1994 to 15 March 2002. Between 16 March
2002 to 22 January 2005, Mr. Hu was the founder and chairman of
Partners Capital International Limited and was appointed as a part-time
member of Central Policy Unit of The Government of the HKSAR from
1 January 2008 to 31 December 2009.

Mr. Hu is the founder and chairman of Vision Finance Group Limited,
the holding company of Vision Finance International Company Limited
and an executive director of Hua Lien International (Holding) Company
Limited (SEHK Stock Code: 969). He was appointed as an executive
directors of ASR Logistics Holdings Limited (SEHK Stock Code: 1803)
on 23 April 2015.
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Mr. Liu Xueheng (“Mr. Liu”), aged 42, was appointed as an executive
Director of the Company on 11 July 2014. He obtained his MBA from
the Cambridge University of the United Kingdom. Mr. Liu has extensive
experience in the equity investment, corporate finance, IPO listing,
and merger and acquisition. Mr. Liu is a co-founder of Partners Capital
International Limited and Vision Finance Group Limited and is currently
an executive director of Vision Finance Group Limited. Mr. Liu was an
independent non-executive director of Guangshen Railway Company
Limited (SEHK Stock Code: 525) from 2 June 2011 to 29 May 2014
and is currently an executive director of Beijing Properties (Holdings)
Limited (SEHK Stock Code: 925) since January 2011.

Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan (“Mr. Alan Mung”), aged 28, was
appointed as an executive Director of the Company on 22 October
2013. He holds a Bachelor of Arts Degree in Business Economics from
University of California-Santa Barbara and a Master Degree in Finance
from Peking University. He is a substantial shareholder of the Company.
Mr. Alan Mung was appointed as an executive director of Mastermind
Capital Limited (SEHK Stock code: 905) (“Mastermind”) on 31 March
2014. He was also appointed as an executive director of Well Way
Group Limited (SEHK Stock code: 8063) on 24 March, 2014. He was an
executive director of Shougang Concord Technology Holdings Limited
(SEHK Stock code: 521) for the period from 24 November, 2013 to 6
February, 2015. Mr. Alan Mung has extensive working experience in
investment and asset management.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chee Man Sang, Eric (“Mr. Chee”), aged 53, was appointed
as an non-executive Director of the Company on 10 January 2013.
Mr. Chee is a practising Certified Public Accountant in Hong Kong
and a senior partner of Chan Chee Cheng & Co., a firm of certified
public accountants. Mr. Chee holds a Bachelor Degree in Commerce
(majoring in Accounting) from Birmingham University. He had worked
in two international accounting firms in Canada and Hong Kong. Mr.
Chee is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and a member of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of Ontario, Canada. Mr. Chee is currently an independent
non-executive director of Hop Fung Group Holdings Limited (SEHK
Stock Code: 2320). He was an independent non-executive director of
Mastermind Capital Limited (SEHK Stock Code: 905) from 9 March
2007 to 26 September 2014.

Mr. Tang Shu Pui, Simon (“Mr. Tang”), aged 50, was appointed as
an non-executive Director of the Company on 10 January 2013. He is a
solicitor and an accredited mediator with the Hong Kong International
Arbitration Centre. Mr. Tang is a partner of P. C. Woo & Co., solicitors,
a solicitors firm with over 66 years of service in Hong Kong. Mr. Tang
is @ member of the Appeal Tribunal of the Hong Kong Federation
of Insurers, Honorary Legal Advisor to the General Agents and
Managers Association of Hong Kong, Founding Member and Executive
Committee Member of the Hong Kong Institute Patent Attorneys,
Visiting Lecturer in Intellectual Property Law in The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University, Part Time Lecturer in Hong Kong University
School of Professional and Continuing Education, member of the Basic
Law Promotion Steering Committee and member of the Standing
Committee on Standards and Development of the Law Society of Hong
Kong.
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Biographical Details of Directors
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Wai Man (“Mr. Chan”), aged 50, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company on 10 May
2013. He is a practicing certified public accountant, a fellow member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Chan is also a
member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and
Wales. He has experiences in auditing, taxation and finance for over 15
years. Mr. Chan is now an independent non-executive director of Sage
International Group Limited (SEHK Stock Code: 8082) and Well Way
Group Limited (SEHK Stock Code: 8063) the shares of both companies
are listed on GEM of Stock Exchange.

Mr. Tsui Sai Ming, Steven (“Mr. Tsui”), aged 52, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director of the Company on 10 May
2013. He is currently running his own trading and consultancy firm.
Mr. Tsui had been working as a sales executive in a Toys manufacturing
company from year 1996 to 2011 and became its director afterwards,
who mainly ran sales and operation of its marketing companies in the
United States. Mr. Tsui obtained a Bachelor’s Degree of Commerce
(Accounting) with Honours from Birmingham University in 1985.

Mr. Ng Chun Chuen, David (“Mr. Ng”), aged 50, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director of the Company on 7
June 2013. He is the CFO of a private manufacturing group as well
as a practicing certified public accountant and a fellow member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Ng obtained
Professional Diploma in Accountancy from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University in 1988. He has extensive experience in auditing, financial
management, corporate development, investment and corporate
finance.

Ms. Liu Yan (“Ms. Liu”), aged 44, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company on 18 June 2015. She
graduated from Central University of Finance & Economics (Beijing)
with a bachelor degree in Economics in 1992. She obtained a master
degree in business administration from University of Rochester
(Rochester, NY) in 2005. Ms. Liu is a member of Chinese Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (CICPA). She has over 20 years of solid
experience in auditing, financial management, taxation and fund
management and worked for PricewaterhouseCoopers (Guangzhou,
China), Barclays Capital (New York City), Angelo Gordon Asia Limited
(Hong Kong and New York) and China Everbright Limited (Hong Kong).
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The Directors submit herewith their annual report together with the
audited financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2015.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Company are investment holding. The

EREURENEEERE TR =A=+—
HEFEZFRERNRERYBRR -

TEXK

ARRZEBEBRREER -AEB 2T EXE

principal activities of the Group are the mining business and trading of BRARKEXEBLAEARER-
goods.
RESULTS AND DIVIDEND XEBERKRERE

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2015 and the
state of the Company’s and the Group's affairs as at that date are set
out in the financial statements on pages 46 to 104. The Directors do
not recommend the payment of any dividend in respect of the year.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following is a summary of the published results and of the assets,
liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five
financial years, as extracted from the audited financial statements. This
summary does not form a part of the audited financial statements.

AEEHE-ZT-—AF=—FA=1+T—HIFEZXE
BN Z B 2 RRRIA RS B E SN E R
BHRRFACEEFI104H - EXW TEFARAFE
IR AE (T AR S o

RTRBEAAVRFEAREEAEXERE
E REMHERERSCHME DHBEALERX
FBEBR-MBEL TEREERMBERER 2 —

BB o

RESULTS EF
2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-RFE | ZET—WNE —ET—=F —IFT——F —LT——%F
FHET FHBT T FHT THT
Revenue Wz 7,632 2,255 524 1,384 1,855
(Loss) before taxation BriiAl (E518) (74,746) (6,894) (8,957) (4,872) (271,050)
Taxation FiE 16,479 - - - 66,368
(Loss) for the year FE (FE8) (58,267) (6,894) (8,957) (4,872) (204,682)

Attributable to: FEAf
Owners of the Company KRAEHEB A (58,027) (6,894) (8,957) (4,872) (204,682)
Non-controlling interests FEIE R (240) - - - -
(58,267) (6,894) (8,957) (4,872) (204,682)
HREBZRERAT |3

T -AFFR
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ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAE
2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-RE | —_T-—NFE —T—ZF =—T—-—F —T——F
FET FHBT FHET FHT FHBT
Property, plant and equipment ER 121 16 127 208 314
Exploration and evaluation assets MEMTLEE = - 2,409 2,546 2,837
Mining rights g 671,624 | 737,561 735,657 735,657 735,657
Current assets RBEE 103,309 26,667 1,319 3,528 8,049
Total assets BEE 775,054 764,244 739,512 741,939 746,857
Current liabilities REEE (1,812) (3,379) (5,710) (4,072) (4,782)
Promissory notes A EE - - - (20,000)  (19,214)
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFIE B E (147,429) | (163,913) (163,913) (163,913) (163,913)
Total liabilities weE (149,241)| (167,292) (169,623) (187,985) (187,909)
Net assets EEFE 625,813 | 596,952 569,889 553,954 558,948
CHARITABLE DONATION ZER
No charitable donation was made by the Group during the year (2014: RAEEA AEETEEHZERE (Z2—@O
Nil). FE)o
FIXED ASSETS BEIE&EE
Details of movements in fixed assets of Group during the year are set FEEFAZETEEZBFBEHN B REKWN
out in note 13 to the financial statements. E13 e
SHARE CAPITAL % A<
Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the RARAFEAZBRAEEFIEEREREAHNI B
year, together with the reasons, are set out in note 23 to the financial WK FE23 ©
statements.
PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS BEEEER

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company's RRBZARMEI(TARAEAN]) kB FEED
bye-laws (the “Bye-laws”) or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige HEAGSURTE AR R RIERFFRE ORI B KRR
the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing BENRO 2 EBEBERE-

Shareholders.

14 Bestway International Holdings Limited
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PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the year ended 31 March 2015, neither the Company, nor any
of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company's
listed securities.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Company and the Group
during the year are set out in note 24 to the financial statements and
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 March 2015, the Company had no retained profits available
for cash distribution and/or distribution in specie. Under the
Bermuda Companies Act 1981, the Company’s contributed surplus
of HK$159,393,000 is currently not available for distribution. The
Company’s share premium account in the amount of HK$837,222,000
may be distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group's sales and purchases
attributable to the major customers and suppliers respectively during
the year ended 31 March 2015 is as follows:

BE BEERNEEARQXFAZzLTHE
z

HE-_Z—RA4=-A=Z+—BILEFEER AQ7
LETAHBEARMERE BRxEEERAQF
2 ETESE-

R

ARBARARERFRAZRERBFED HER
FBHRRMT2ARGEaRRETH K-

o] 72K {48

RZE—RAF=ZA=+—H AQR W ETH
BeDER/SEMHRZFEE S -BRES
RE-NAMN—"FRAVE AR Z2EHAR
159,393,000/ LI R I A Al 5K © A A A) 2 B
17 % (€ #R837,222,000/8 JL AJ LB R AT IR 2 FE R
ED K °

TEEFRHER

FTREFRHEEEOFNBE_FT A4 =A
St-RLEFENREASEHERRBEZE
BHAT -

Percentage of the group’s total

EEAEZEL
Sales Purchases
HE 2 2
The largest customer SPNEYS 32% N/AT 38 F
Five largest customers in aggregate hERAEFP A 87% N/AT i F
The largest supplier BAHER N/AT 35 B 33%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate hERAREEER N/ATiE 89%

At no time during the year have the Directors, their associates or any
Shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors
owns more than 5% of the Company issued share capital) had any
interest in these customers and suppliers.

BMEARAESE REZBMBEALTAREEHAA
BEBBARA D HEITRAS%A L ZERMBIR
RERTABFRZEER LHEEEES A%
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ZS o
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this annual report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Hu Yebi (Chairman) (appointed on 11 July 2014)
Mr. Liu Xueheng (Chief Executive Officer) (appointed on 11 July 2014)

Mr. Mung Kin Keung (resigned on 18 June 2015)
Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan
Mr. Ha Wing Ho, Peter (resigned on 11 July 2014)

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chee Man Sang, Eric
Mr. Tang Shu Pui, Simon

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Wai Man

Mr. Tsui Sai Ming, Steven

Mr. Ng Chun Chuen, David

Ms. Liu Yan (appointed on 18 June 2015)

In accordance with Bye-law 87, Mr. Chee Man Sang, Eric, Mr. Hu
Yebi and Mr. Liu Xueheng, will retire from office and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting. Pursuant to Bye-law 86, Ms. Liu Yan shall hold office until
the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer
herself for re-election at that meeting. Each of the independent
non-executive Directors had made an annual confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board
considers that all independent non-executive Directors meet the
independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and
are independent in accordance with the terms of the guidelines.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
The Director’s biographical information are set out on pages 9 to 12.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company or any of its
subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to Shareholders’ approval at annual
general meeting with reference to the recommendation of the
Group's remuneration committee. Other emoluments are determined
by the Board with reference to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and
performance and results of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in note 26 to the financial statements, no other
contract of significance to which the Company or a subsidiary was a
party and in which a Director of the Company had a material interest
subsisted at the year end date or at any time during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or were in existence during the year.

EEEEFR
FEREAN BN EIORZENE -
EECZBRBEEN

BEREERRBFASLERSE EEME
SARBHEEMMER BT LERMAARER
AR —FRKIEMBAELHEE ORERERIN)
ZRIEEH -
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EERENP 2R
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2015, the interests and short positions of the directors
and chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company or any associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
("SFO")) which (a) were required to be notified to the Company
and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (”Stock Exchange”)
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
or short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant to section
352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (c)
were required, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange,
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers contained in the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), were as follows:

Long positions in shares of the Company

EERKRO HEAROREZ 28
#RER

R-E-—AF=ZA=+—B ARAEELTE
TTHABRARR B SAEFARBEE (3 E 75 M
BED (7B 5 REERG]) EXVERZEE) Z

7 AR MDKESFPERQREES KRR
BIEXVEBETRESH EBAME RN T KB B
AERGHBMRAR ([BMRAT)) zEREE (B
ERERBEZIFRBAEGRIZZERTERI AKX
WARIEHA 2 mIORE) )R IBEE S & H
B 15GIE35216 R BYI AZ GBI FT s 2 & & it
W2k KR (ORBE R TE S LM R Al
([ETRAD) T E B ITAESETESFRS
WZETABNGRARRBRA S RAR
W

RAEADFARBZHER

Percentage of
the issued share

Number of capital in

shares held the Company

NN

BRITREZ

Name of Director BEEgA FEROEHE BAt

Mung Bun Man, Alan EmX 185,333,333 17.72%
(Note 1)
(Bi&ET)

Hu Yebi iEES 100,000,000 9.56%
(Note 2)
(PF&E2)

Liu Xueheng =) 50,000,000 4.78%

Note 1: As at 31 March 2015, 185,333,333 Shares are held under the name of
Skill Trade Investments Limited, which is solely owned by Mr. Mung Bun
Man, Alan.

Note 2: As at 31 March 2015, 100,000,000 Shares are held under the name of
Power Ace Investments Limited, which is owned by Mr. Hu Yebi and his
spouse as to 50% and 50% respectively.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES (continued)

Long positions in shares of the Company
(Continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2015, none of the directors
nor the chief executives of the Company had or was deemed to have
any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which (a) were required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short
positions which they were taken or deemed to have taken under such
provisions of the SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant to section 352
of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (c)
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers contained in the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted
to any Directors or their respective spouse or minor children, or were
any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to
acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

EERARG HEROREF &
BRERE (&)

RAEDARG 2HF - (&)
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS TERERARRQTRG REERKR G
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND ZEZRER

UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2015, the following interests of 5% or more of the RIZEBE—RAF=ZA=T—HB BREARAREZES
issued share capital of the Company were recorded in the register of NENE GO E336IGFE 2 B M - #HAE
interests required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 RATEBEITRAS% A L 2 RESH 0
of the SFO: T

Long position of substantial shareholders in the FERRRAERQARRMGZER

shares of the Company

Number of % of issued
ordinary ordinary shares

Name of Shareholders Capacity shares held capital

EERTEER
BERER &4 FsEEEREE BAH D
Skill Trade Investments Limited Beneficial Owner 185,333,333 17.72%
BERBBA (Note 1)
(BFED)

Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan Interest of Controlled Corporation 185,333,333 17.72%
EmX et REHEE 2 (Note 1)
(KsE1)

Power Ace Investments Limited Beneficial Owner 100,000,000 9.56%
EnlEE A (Note 2)
(PFi&EE2)

Mr. Hu Yebi Interest of Controlled Corporation 100,000,000 9.56%
LEESE=D e REHERE s (Note 2)
(P3E2)

Ms. Li Ling Xiu Interest of Controlled Corporation 100,000,000 9.56%
FHEELL RPEHEE 2 (Note 2)
(KisE2)

Note: Ff 3T -

1. Skill Trade Investments Limited is a company incorporated under the 1. Skill Trade Investments Limited & — B 1R 1% % &
laws of the British Virgin Islands, the entire issued share capital of which BRABESEOFMK L 2 AR 2 E B #T
is legally and beneficially owned by Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan. BRABERXEEGEREZHRE -

2. Power Ace Investments Limited is a company incorporated under the 2. Power Ace Investments Limited 2 — R iR 1% 24 &
laws of the British Virgin Islands, the share capital of which is legally and RS EOFMA L 2 AR ERA AR
beneficially owned by Mr. Hu Yebi and his spouse Ms. Li Lingxiu as to BEERERBEBRERIDANEGERERE
50% and 50% respectively. B50%HEm

20 Bestway International Holdings Limited
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)

Long position of substantial shareholders in the
shares of the Company (Continued)

Save as disclosed above, as far as the Directors are aware, as at 31
March 2015, no other person had an interest or short position in
the Company’s shares or underlying shares which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of the Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which was recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions are disclosed in note 26 to
the financial statements. None of these related party transactions
constitutes a connected transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

FERRRADTRHD RABBR G
ZHEERER (&)

FERRRADARGZER (&)

BEXMBEREN BEEMAN R_T—RF=
A=+—8B #BEEMATKREARR 2 KM %E
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RIEFEH LB IEDIE3BCHRAHARRAFE
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors of the Company or their respective associates
was interested in, apart from the Group's businesses, any business
which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the businesses of the Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has compiled with the
Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the “CG Code") as set out
in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules throughout the accounting period
covered by the annual report, except for certain deviations, please refer
to the Corporate Governance Report on pages 24 to 43 of the annual
report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this annual
report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float under
the Listing Rules.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has an Audit Committee which was established in
compliance with the CG Code contained in Appendix 14 of the Listing
Rules for the purposes of reviewing and providing supervision over the
Group's financial reporting process and internal controls. The Group’s
audited financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2015
has been reviewed by the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee
comprises the four independent non-executive Directors and one
nonexecutive director of the Company, and meets at least twice
annually to perform their duties.

Bestway International Holdings Limited
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AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2013 were audited by Messrs Morison Heng. On 9 August
2013, the Company announced that Morison Heng resigned. BDO
Limited (“BDO") was appointed as the auditor of the Company on 17
September 2013.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the years ended
31 March 2014 and 2015 were audited by BDO. A resolution will
be proposed to the shareholders at the forthcoming annual general
meeting to reappoint BDO as auditor of the Company.

BB ED

AEEBZE T =F=R=+—RHILFEZE
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The Board is committed to maintain statutory and regulatory standards
and adherence to the principle of corporate governance with emphasis
on transparency, independence, accountability and responsibility. The
Board reviews its corporate governance practices from time to time
in order to meet the rising expectations of shareholders and comply
with increasingly stringent regulatory requirements, and to fulfill its
commitment to excellence in corporate governance.

The Stock Exchange has issued Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules
relating to the CG Code for the listed company to comply with. In the
opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with the CG Code
throughout the year, except for the certain deviations from the CG
Code which are explained in the following paragraphs.

THE BOARD
Responsibilities

The overall management of the Company’s business is vested in the
Board, which assumes responsibility for leadership and control of the
Company and is collectively responsible for promoting the success
of the Company by directing and supervising its affairs. All Directors
should take decisions objectively in the interests of the Company.

The Board reserves for its decisions all major matters of the Company,
including: the approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall
strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management systems,
material transactions, financial information, appointment of Directors
and other significant financial and operational matters.

CG Code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of Chairman and
chief executive officer (the “CEQ") should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual. The division of responsibilities
between the chairman and CEO should be clearly established and set
out in writing. The positions of Chairman and CEO are vacated until
the appointment of Mr. Hu Yebi as chairman and Mr. Liu Xueheng as
CEO on 11 July 2014.

The Chairman’s responsibilities are to provide leadership to the Board
and formulate the Group’s business strategies. The Chairman is also
responsible for ensuring the Board works effectively, in particular,
ensuring all the Directors receive reliable, adequate and complete
information in a timely manner. The Chairman may communicate
with the Directors directly or through the assistance of the Company
Secretary to discuss or clarify any issues concerning the Group
from time to time, and to provide any supporting information and
documents to them. The Chairman assumes the primary responsibility
for ensuring that good corporate governance practices and procedures
are established.
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THE BOARD (continued)
Responsibilities (Continued)

The CEO is responsible for the conduct of day-to-day operation of the
Company and accountable to the Board for all aspects of the corporate
performance. He recommends policies to the Board for consideration
and approval, and keeps the Board informed of any material
developments of the Company’s business. The CEO may delegate his
duties to any other management members or responsible officers of
the Company but he assumes the principal responsibility. Up to the
date of this report, the chairman of the Board is Mr. Hu Yebi and Mr.
Liu Xueheng is the CEO.

Composition

The Board currently comprises the following Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. Hu Yebi (Chairman) (appointed on 11 July 2014)

Mr. Liu Xueheng (Chief Executive Officer) (appointed on 11 July 2014)
Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chee Man Sang, Eric
Mr. Tang Shu Pui, Simon

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Wai Man

Mr. Tsui Sai Ming, Steven

Mr. Ng Chun Chuen, David

Ms. Liu Yan (appointed on 18 June 2015)

In accordance with Bye-law 87, Mr. Chee Man Sang, Eric, Mr. Hu Yebi
and Mr. Liu Xueheng will retire from office and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
Pursuant to Bye-law 86, Ms. Liu Yan, shall hold office until the
forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer herself
for re-election at that meeting.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors had made an annual
confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Board considered that all Independent Non-executive
Directors meet the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and are independent in accordance with the terms of the
guidelines.
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THE BOARD (continued)
Composition (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2015, the Board at all times met
the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of
at least three independent non-executive Directors (“INEDs”) with at
least one INED possessing appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

The list of Directors (by category) is also disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company pursuant to the Listing Rules
from time to time.

Biographical details of the Directors of the Company as at the date of
this annual report are set out in the “Biographical Details of Directors”
section on pages 9 to 12 of this report, which demonstrates a diversity
of skills, expertise, experience and qualifications. Save as disclosed in
this report, none of the Directors has any financial, business, family or
other material or relevant relationships among members of the Board.

All Directors are regularly updated on governance and regulatory
matters. There is a procedure to enable Directors, upon reasonable
request, to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the expense of the Company in order to discharge of
their duties.

During the year, 2 regular and 5 irregular Board meetings were held.
The Directors can include matters for discussion in the agenda if
necessary. Agenda and accompanying Board papers in respect of
Board meetings are sent out in full to all Directors within reasonable
time before the meeting. Minutes of Board meetings are kept by
duly appointed secretaries of the respective meetings and record in
sufficient detail the matters considered by the Board and decision
reached and sent to all Directors for their comment and records
respectively within a reasonable time after the Board meeting was
held.

All Directors have access to Board papers and related materials, and are
provided with adequate information on a timely manner, which enable
the Board to make an informed decision on matters placed before it.
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THE BOARD (continued)
Composition (Continued)

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
INED of his/her independence pursuant to the requirements of the
Listing Rules. The Company considers all INEDs to be independent in
accordance with the independence guidelines as set out in the Listing
Rules.

All non-executive Directors (including the INEDs) are appointed for
specific terms. The term of office for each INED is not more than three
years from the date of appointment subject to the requirement that
one-third of all the Directors shall retire from office by rotation at each
annual general meeting pursuant to the Company’s Bye-laws.

According to the Company’s Bye-Law 86(2), the Directors shall have
the power from time to time and at any time to appoint any person
as a director either to fill a causal vacancy on the Board or, subject to
authorization by the Shareholders in general meeting, as an addition to
the existing Board but so that the numbers of Directors so appointed
shall not exceed any maximum number determined from time to time
by the Shareholders in general meeting. All Directors appointed to fill
a casual vacancy should be subject to election by Shareholders at the
first general meeting after their appointment. Any other Director so
appointed by the Board shall hold office only until the next following
annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for
re-election at that meeting.

The Company has a formal, considered and transparent procedure for
the appointment of new Directors to the Board and all Directors should
be subject to re-election at regular intervals. Upon the resignation of a
Director, an announcement is made publicly to disclose the reasons for
his/her resignation.

The Company has arranged a Directors & Officers Liabilities Insurance
for its directors and officers.

Induction for Directors

Each newly appointed director will receive comprehensive, formal and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment, so as
to ensure that he/she has proper understanding of the business and
operations of the Company and that he/she is fully aware of his/her
responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant
regulatory requirements.
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THE BOARD (continued) EE2 )
Continuous Professional Development of the EECHESXERRE
Directors
The Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional APREHES2HEFESEER ([FESER
development (the “CPD") to develop and refresh their knowledge and Bl UNEBRMEFEMBMEE -REESH
skills. According to the confirmation records provided by the Directors, RECHERTLH 2RBEFREBEE_T—1F=
all of the Directors have participated in the CPD for the year ended 31 A=+t—RUEFEHELHEFEZTERE -
March 2015.
Directors’ attendance records EEHERH®
The number of full Board meetings, committee meetings and general BEEEROBEFEALEZ2REETEER &
meetings attended by each Director during the year under review is BB MBREAGAREHER TR -FIMAZE
set out in the following table. Figure in brackets indicates maximum FHEZATEAEEEKREXZTEEKNEHRNZ
number of meetings in the period in which the individual was a Board BEZEHHE-
member or Committee member.
Audit Remuneration Nomination

Full Board Committee Committee Committee General
Name of Director Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings
BENA 2RESSER ENZESER FHZEESESE REZEEER BRRAE
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Hu Yebi (note 1) TRE B e 4 (MEET) 4/(4) N/A 38 F N/A 758 A N/A 758 /(1)
Mr. Liu Xueheng (note 1) FI2BEE (1) 1/(4) N/A i N/A T8 A N/A T A 0/(1)
Mr. Ha Wing Ho, Peter (note 2) Aok A (HTER2) 2/(2) N/A 73 F N/A T3 A N/A T A /(1)
Mr. Mung Kin Keung E3=t: S 4/(7) N/A i A N/A 73 F N/A 73 0/(2)
Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan EmXEE 5/7) N/A i A N/A 73 F N/A 73 2/(2)
Non-executive Directors HHTEE
Mr. Chee Man Sang, Eric WRAELE 2/(7) 1/(2) 11(2) 1/(2) 0/(2)
Mr. Tang Shu Pui, Simon a5t a/7) N/A T iE A N/A 7~ F N/A 7~ A 1(2)
Independent non-executive BUKHITEE

Directors

Mr. Chan Wai Man RERLE 4/(7) 2/Q2) 2/(2) 2/(2) 112)
Mr. Tsui Sai Ming, Steven R EELE 1(7) 2/(2) N/A i N/A 7~ A 2/(2)
Mr. Ng Chun Chuen, David BERREE 3/(7) 2/Q2) 2/(2) 2/(2) 112)
Ms. Liu Yan (note 3) Ble i+ (H3E3) N/A 78 F N/A 738 F N/A 38 N/A 758 N/A 78 F
Note 1. appointed on 11 July 2014 T RZE—NFELA+—BEZE
Note 2. resigned on 11 July 2014 P 5E2. RZZE—WFEA+—BEE
Note 3. appointed on 18 June 2015 P 3. RZZE—RAFSATNBEZE
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COMPLIANCE WITH CODE ON CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

During the year ended 31 March 2015, the Board has adopted and
complied with the code provisions of the CG Code in so far as they are
applicable except for the following deviations.

CG Code provision A.1.1 stipulates that the Board should meet
regularly and board meeting should be held at least four times a year
at approximately quarterly intervals. During the year, only two regular
board meetings were held to review and discuss the annual and
interim results. The Company does not announce its quarterly results
and hence does not consider the holding of quarterly meetings as
necessary.

CG Code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer (the “CEQ") should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual. During the year ended 31 March
2015, the Company has not appointed chairman and CEO until 11 July
2014. Up to the date of this report, the chairman of the Board is Mr.
Hu Yebi and Mr. Liu Xueheng is the CEO.

CG Code provision A.4.1 stipulates that non-executive directors should
be appointed for a specific term subject to re-election. Independent
non-executive directors of the Company are not appointed for a
specific term. However, all directors of the Company are subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting of
the Company in accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company.

CG Code provision A.6.7 stipulates that the independent non-executive
directors and other non-executive directors should attend general
meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the views of
Shareholders. Two non-executive Directors and two Independent non-
executive Directors did not attend the special general meeting ("SGM")
held on 8 May 2014. A non-executive Director was unable to attend
the annual general meeting of the Company held on 16 September
2014 due to his various work commitments. However, at the respective
general meetings of the Company, there were at least two executive
Directors presented to enable the Board to develop a balanced
understanding of the views of the shareholders of the Company.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has set up a remuneration committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with the CG Code as set out in Appendix
14 of the Listing Rules to ensure that there are formal and transparent
procedures for setting policies on the remuneration of Directors and
senior management.

The Remuneration Committee comprises four members and is chaired
by Mr. Ng Chun Chuen, David (independent non-executive Director).
The other members of the Remuneration Committee are Mr. Chee Man
Sang, Eric (non-executive Director), Mr. Chan Wai Man (independent
non-executive Director) and Ms. Liu Yan (independent non-executive
Director). Accordingly, the Remuneration Committee comprises a
majority of independent non-executive Directors.

The duties of the remuneration committee are as follows:

(a) to make recommendations to the Board on the Company's
policy and structure for all remuneration of Directors and
senior management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing such policy;

(b) to have the delegated responsibility to determine the specific
remuneration packages of all executive Directors and senior
management, including benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable
for loss or termination of their office or appointment, and
make recommendations to the Board of the remuneration of
non-executive Directors. The Remuneration Committee shall
consider factors such as salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and responsibilities of the Directors,
employment conditions elsewhere in the group and desirability
of performance based remuneration;

(o) to review and approve performance-based remuneration by
reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the
Board from time to time;
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (continued)

(d) to review and approve the compensation payable to executive
Directors and senior management in connection with any loss
or termination of their office or appointment to ensure that
such compensation is determined in accordance with relevant
contractual terms and that such compensation is otherwise fair
and not excessive for the Company;

(e) to review and approve compensation arrangements relating
to dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure
that such arrangements are determined in accordance with
relevant contractual terms and that any compensation payment
is otherwise reasonable and appropriate;

(f) to ensure that no Director or any of his associates is involved in
deciding his own remuneration; and

(9) to advise Shareholders on how to vote with respect to any
service contracts of Directors that require Shareholders’
approval under Rule 13.68 of the Listing Rules.

During the year, 4 meetings were held to review the remuneration of
Directors and resigned Directors. Details of the Directors’ remuneration
are set out in note 13 to the financial statements.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has set up a nomination committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with the CG Code as set out in Appendix
14 of the Listing Rules to ensure fair and transparent procedures for
appointment, re-election and removal of Directors to the Board.

The Nomination Committee comprises four members and is chaired
by Mr. Ng Chun Chuen, David (independent non-executive Director).
The other members of the Nomination Committee are Mr. Chee Man
Sang, Eric (non-executive Director), Mr. Chan Wai Man (independent
non-executive Director) and Ms. Liu Yan (independent non-executive
Director). Accordingly, the Remuneration Committee comprises a
majority of independent nonexecutive Directors.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)

The duties of the nomination committee are as follows:

(a) to review the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board on a regular
basis and make recommendations to the Board regarding any
proposed changes;

(b) to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the Board on
the selection of individuals nominated for directorships;

(c) to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors; and

(d) to make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and
succession planning for Directors in particular the chairman of
the Board and the chief executive officer.

During the current year, the nomination committee had evaluated
nominees to fill up the vacancy resulted from resigned Directors and
made recommendation to the Board.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises five members and is chaired by
Mr. Chan Wai Man (independent non-executive Director) who
possesses the accounting and related financial management expertise.
The other members of the Audit Committee are Mr. Chee Man Sang,
Eric (non-executive Director), Mr. Tsui Sai Ming, Steven (independent
non-executive Director), Mr. Ng Chun Chuen, David (independent
non-executive Director) and Ms. Liu Yan (independent non-executive
Director). Accordingly, the Audit Committee comprises a majority of
independent non-executive Directors.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

The duties of the audit committee are as follows:

1 Relationships with the Company’s auditor

(a)

(b)

(e)

to be primarily responsible for making recommendation
to the Board on the appointment, reappointment and
removal of the external auditor, and to approve the
remuneration and terms of engagement of the external
auditor, and to consider any questions of resignation or
dismissal of that auditor;

to review and monitor the external auditor’s
independence and objectivity and the effectiveness
of the audit process in accordance with applicable
accounting standard;

to discuss with the external auditor before the audit
commences, the nature and scope of the audit and
reporting obligations;

to ensure co-ordination where more than one audit firm
is involved; and

to develop and implement policy on the engagement of
an external auditor to supply non-audit services. For this
purpose, external auditor shall include any entity that
is under common control, ownership or management
with the audit firm or any entity that a reasonable and
informed third party having knowledge of all relevant
information would reasonably conclude as part of
the audit firm nationally or internationally. The audit
committee shall report to the Board, identifying any
matters in respect of which it considers that action or
improvement is needed and making recommendations
as to the steps to be taken.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (Continued) EREES (@)
2  Review of financial information of the 2 BRALTNHBEER
Company
(a) To monitor integrity of financial statements of the (a) ERARDASBERERRAAD T F R
Company and the Company's annual report and NERE R EATRE K& (4R LA
accounts, half-year report and, if prepared for HE) ZEREMRERNT KRR
publication, quarterly reports, and to review significant s s B -BEms  RAE
financial reporting judgments contained in them. In FERIMN M AR R FR LR
this regard, in reviewing the Company’s annual report B APEmRER (NHERAHETIE)
and accounts, half-year report and, if prepared for FERE WHRASEHATEIE:
publication, quarterly reports before submission to the
Board, the audit committee shall focus particularly on:
(i) any changes in accounting policies and practices; (i B HRERER 2 EME
EE
(ii) major judgmental areas; (ii) W REKHE &
(iiiy  significant adjustments resulting from audit; (i) BREECERNAE:
(ivy  the going concern assumptions and any (iv) FHELCEZBEMEMRE
qualifications; BR:
(v) compliance with accounting standards; and (v) BTEE LR R
(vi)  compliance with the Listing Rules and other legal (i) BFHBEPEERs ETR
requirements in relation to financial reporting. Al R AR
(b) in regard to 2(a) above: (b) o EX2@EmE :
0 members of the audit committee must liaise with (i) EZEEgNEHARNFE
the Company's Board, senior management and 5 RREEERERE
the person appointed as the Company’s qualified REARNFIEERGFAIZ A
accountant; and THEAE &
(ii) the audit committee shall consider any (ii) BERLZECREEZSHRE
significant or unusual items that are, or may NERB APTIRIR SRR R 2
need to be, reflected in such reports and FRERSITIZESE I
accounts and must give due consideration to any BEEREMBRRRZE
matters that have been raised by the Company’s ERSEA ER EFZ
qualified accountant, compliance officer or HERE 2 EH-
auditors.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

3

Oversight of the Company’s financial
reporting system and internal control
procedures

(a)

(b)

(e)

)

(9)

to review the Company’s financial controls, internal

control and risk management systems;

to discuss with the management the system of internal
control and ensure that management has discharged its
duty to have any effective internal control system;

to consider any findings of major investigations of
internal control matters as delegated by the Board or on
its own initiative and management'’s response;

where an internal audit function exists, to ensure co-
ordination between the internal and external auditors,
and to ensure that the internal audit function is
adequately resourced and has appropriate standing
within the Company, and to review and monitor the
effectiveness of the internal audit function;

to review the group’s financial and accounting policies
and practices;

to review the external auditor’s management letter, any
material queries raised by the auditor to management in
respect of the accounting records, financial accounts or
systems of control and management'’s response;

to ensure that the Board will provide a timely
response to the issues raised in the external auditor’s
management letter;

to report to the Board on the matters set out herein
and, in particular, the matters required to be performed
by the audit committee under the CG Code;
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

3

Oversight of the Company’s financial
reporting system and internal control
procedures (Continued)

(i)

()

to consider other topics, as defined by the Board,

to review arrangements by which employees of the
Company may, in confidence, raise concerns about
possible improprieties in financial reporting, internal
control or other matters, and to ensure that proper
arrangements are in place for the fair and independent
investigation of such matters and for appropriate
follow-up action;

to act as the key representative body for overseeing the
Company'’s relation with the external auditor; and

to discuss problems and reservations arising from the
interim and final audits and any matters the auditor
may wish to discuss (in the absence of the management
where necessary).

Independence of external auditors

(a)

to consider all relationships between the Company and
the audit firm (including the provision of non-audit
services);

to seek from the audit firm, on an annual basis,
information about policies and processes for
maintaining independence and monitoring compliance
with relevant requirements, including current
requirements regarding rotation of audit partners and
staff;

to meet with the auditor, at least annually, in the
absence of management, to discuss matters relating to
its audit fees, any issues arising from the audit and any
other matters the auditor may wish to raise;

Bestway International Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2015

=

3

&

—~
=

famy}
=

ric2R 1 S !

%
B
5

g

(&

X ) B 3 BR R B R AR

.
RF (&)

EZRAMEETERATEZRE:

ERARRINEEB A RETHE M A
REBEMBER  AaREERE
M EIB 2RI BERE 2 2B AR
EREARELHHZEERENQT
FBYHEREEENRETH

ERITERRERUEEARAFE
SMNEE R BEN 2 BRI

AT ke FERMEL 2B
RREBBR ARREBE AR L
AmENERE (WALE AIE
BHEEBEFE BN TET) -

SNEE R BB 2 W L

(a)

ERARNREZB AR ZHENAA
R (BRERIFZBIRS)

BFERAZBARRMEN  THZ
BRBMRTEB A REESR
BERERTTENBREMNER

BEAHBEHARARBENR
AR E

ELEEEERETESOERT
& BRI — R AR B
MAMNEE  ERERRTIEE
) H B R B AR SR B
o A




=
@

Corporate Governance Report
1 € B IR Wl

AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

4 Independence of external auditors (Continued)

(d)

(e)

to agree with the Board the Company’s policies relating
to the hiring of employees or former employees of the
external auditor and monitor the application of such
policies. The audit committee shall then be in a position
to consider whether in the light of this there has been
any impairment or appearance of impairment, of the
auditor’s judgment or independence in respect of the
audit; and

to ensure that the provision by an external auditor
of non-audit services does not impair the external
auditor’s independence or objectivity. When assessing
the external auditor’s independence or objectivity in
relation to the provision of non-audit services, the audit
committee may wish to consider:

(i) whether the skills and experience of the audit
firm make it a suitable supplier of the non-audit
services;

(i) whether there are safeguards in place to
ensure that there is no threat to objectivity
and independence in the conduct of the audit
resulting from the provision of such services by
the external auditor;

(iii) the nature of the non-audit services, the related
fee levels and the fee levels individually and in
aggregate relative to the audit firm; and

(iv) the criteria which govern the compensation of
the individuals performing the audit.

All the members of the audit committee have confirmed to be

independent with reference to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

During the year, the audit committee has reviewed the financial results
and reports as well as the Company's internal control review report.
The audit committee also met the external auditors and monitored the
appointment of external auditors.

There is no disagreement between the Board and the audit committee.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the Corporate Governance

functions set out in the CG Code D.3.1. as below:

(a)

(e)

to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board;

to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions

by Directors of Listed Issuers (the

“Model Code”) as set out in

Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.

Specific enquiry has been made of all the Directors and the Directors
have confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code
throughout the year ended 31 March 2015.
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RESPONSIBILITIES, ACCOUNTABILITIES
AND CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE BOARD AND
MANAGEMENT

The Board assumes responsibility for leadership and control of the
Company and is collectively responsible for promoting the success
of the Company by directing and supervising its affairs. All Directors
should take decisions objectively in the interests of the Company. The
Board reserves for its decision on all major matters relating to policy
matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management,
material transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict
of interests), financial information, appointment of Directors and
other significant operational matters of the Company. Responsibilities
relating to implementing decisions of the Board, directing, and
coordinating the daily operation of the Company are delegated to the
management.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’ RESPONSIBILITIES
FOR ACCOUNTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation
of financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
March 2015. In preparing the financial statement, the Directors have
selected suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently,
made judgments and estimates that are prudent and reasonable, and
have prepared the accounts on the going concern basis. Respective
responsibilities of the Directors and the external auditors to the
Shareholders are set out in the “Independent Auditor’'s Report” on
pages 44 to 45 of this annual report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year, BDO was appointed as the external auditor of the
Company. The remuneration paid to the external auditor of the Group
in respect of audit services and non-audit services for the year ended
31 March 2015 amounted to HK$588,000 and HK$50,000 respectively.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There were no changes in the Company’s constitutional documents
during the year ended 31 March 2015.

%?%&%ﬂ@iﬁﬁ‘ﬁﬁ&ﬁ

SERREREEARR WEBEENRE
NAERB ARABEREARFERKY -2
%Fg%kﬁﬁﬁﬁézﬁ Tﬂ EZRE-ER
BRE-VMIEZH ETSLBRFEHE"
ﬁﬁﬁ%&i‘ﬁ”é‘ BEREK EAE.I?EK?&%(%
ARG ENEFHRE) BHEEHN ZEES
&ﬁ“TE@%K%@%HDEEQ%G%%@R
EERBHEARREREECREERTE
EEJE

\

10 FE mE b
Hﬂlif%%liﬂ

EERGHMHEKRE 2T

EENENERUEARABE_T—AF=FH
=t -ALEFEMEHRRIET -EERNHRY
BRRSCRENERBERABZEFEE X
FHBERGEBZHE LG URAFELS
ERFEUAREKR -EF RIMNEZBENS A RR
RIFAZEFTHIIRAFREIEASALZ (B
TEEHRES]

BB

EW VEREZEZERANRBINEZBED B
T-RAF=ZA=+—HIEFEAEZREX

3!5%*?%%%&#}%2!&%l?l\Eﬂ?%(EfﬁZﬁMA” |

/$588,000/% 7T % 50,000/ 7T, ©

BEXH

RBE-T-AE=A=1+—AILEE AL
2 BE L

BREBREZERERADA
T -AFFR

39




W—

40

Corporate Governance Report

1 3 /6 WA

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for the establishing and maintaining a sound
system of internal control within the Group. However, such as system
was designed to manage various risks of the Group within certain
acceptable risk level, rather than complete the elimination of the risk
of failure to achieve the business objectives of the Group.

The current Board has already commenced an assessment and
review of the internal control system of the Company and will take
appropriate action to maintain an adequate internal control system to
safeguard Shareholders’ investments and the Company’s assets, and
review the effectiveness of such on an annual basis through the audit
committee.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary, Mr. Cheng Sik Kong (“Mr. Cheng”),
is responsible for facilitating the Board process, as well as the
communications among the Board members, shareholders and
management. Mr. Cheng also prepares detailed minutes of each
meeting. Board minutes would be sent to the Board for comments
as soon as practicable. Mr. Cheng reports directly to the Board. All
Directors also have access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary to ensure that all applicable laws, rules and regulations are
followed. During the Year, Mr. Cheng undertook over 15 hours of
professional training to update his skills and knowledge.

Bestway International Holdings Limited
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Group strives to disclose relevant information on its activities
to shareholders in an open and timely manner. Communication is
achieved through:

(1) The Company’s annual and interim reports which have been
enhanced to present a balance, clear and comprehensive
assessment of the Group position and prospects.

(2) Notices of annual and other general meetings and
accompanying explanatory materials.

(3) Announcement releases on major transaction.

(4) Disclosures to the Stock Exchange and relevant regulatory
bodies.

(5) Response to inquiries from shareholders by Directors during the
Annual General Meeting (the "AGM").

The Company endeavor to maintain two way communications with
the Shareholders through various channels. All the enquiries are dealt
with in timely manner. The shareholders are encouraged to attend
the AGM and special general meetings (the “SGM") of the Company.
The shareholders are also encouraged to put their enquiries about the
Group by mail to the principle place of business of the Company (for
the attention of company secretary).

Constructive use of Annual General Meeting

The relations with shareholders should be maintained through
constructive use of AGM. We are encouraging shareholders to attend
at the AGM, giving shareholders an opportunity to ask questions and
to hear about the Company during the meeting and an opportunity to
use their vote and greater openness in voting procedures at the AGM.
Our executive Directors and responsible person of audit committee,
nomination committee and remuneration committee will answer
the questions raised by the shareholders. Annual report and related
papers are post to shareholders for their consideration at least 20 clear
business days prior to the AGM. AGM proceedings are continually
reviewed in the light of corporate governance best practices.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedures for the Shareholders to Convene a
Special General Meeting

Pursuant to Bye-Law 58, members holding at the date of deposit of
the requisition not less than one-tenth (10%) of the paid up capital of
the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the
Board or the company secretary of the Company to require a special
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held
within two (2) months after the deposit of such requisition.

The requisition must state the purposes of the meeting, and must be
signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the registered office of
the Company at Suite 1018, 10th Floor, Central Tower, 28 Queen’s
Road Central, Hong Kong (for the attention of company secretary), and
may consist of several documents in like form each signed by one or
more requisitionists.

If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionists, or any of
them representing more than one half of the total voting rights of
all of them, may themselves convene a meeting, but any meeting so
convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months from
the said date.

A meeting convened by the requisitionists shall be convened in the
same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings are to be
convened by the Directors.

Any reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists by reason of
the failure of the Directors duly to convene a meeting shall be repaid
to the requisitionists by the Company, and any sum so repaid shall be
retained by the Company out of any sums due or to become due from
the Company by way of fees or other remuneration in respect of their
services to such Directors as were in default.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (continued)

Procedures for the Shareholders to Put Forward
Proposals at General Meetings

(M

3)

Proposals at shareholders’ meetings can be put forward by the
members of the Company holding at the date of the submission
of the proposals not less than one-tenth (10%) of the paid-up
capital of the Company as at the date of the submission carries
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company.

The submission of the proposals must be made within 3
business days after a notice of the shareholders’ meeting
have been served to all registered shareholders by the Board.
The proposals must be written and must state the objects
of the proposals, and must be signed by the proposers, and
mailed and deposited at Suite 1018, 10th Floor, Central Tower,
28 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong (for the attention of
company secretary); and may consist of several documents in
like form, each signed by one or more proposers.

The proposals will be verified with the Company’s share
registrar and upon its confirmation that the proposals are
proper and in order, the company secretary will ask the
Board to update the resolutions by serving sufficient notice in
accordance with the statutory requirements to all registered
shareholders, provided that the proposers have deposited a
sum of money reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s
expenses involved in publishing supplementary circular and
updating related resolutions. On the contrary, if the requisition
has been verified as not in order, the proposer will be advised
of this outcome and accordingly, no resolution will be updated
as requested.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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Tel : +852 2218 8288

Fax: +852 2815 2239

www.bdo.com.hk
|

EE% 1 +852 2218 8288
{5H : +852 2815 2239

www.bdo.com.hk

TO THE MEMBERS OF
BESTWAY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Bestway
International Holdings Limited (the
(hereafter referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 46 to 104,
which comprise the consolidated and company statements of financial
position as at 31 March 2015, and the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in

“Company”) and its subsidiaries

equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. This report is made solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

BDO Limited
ERUERSEHMEBMARAR

25t Floor Wing On Centre
111 Connaught Road Central

Hong Kong
ERATHRER11158R
KEHD2518
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BDO Limited, a Hong Kong limited company, is a member of BDO International Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee,

and forms part of the international BDO network of independent member firms.
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We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free
from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers
internal control relevant to the entity's preparation of consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group
as at 31 March 2015 and of the Group's loss and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Chow Tak Sing, Peter

Practising Certificate Number P04659

Hong Kong, 26 June 2015
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Consolidated Statement of Comp;ehensive Income

A 1 2 B e

For the year ended 31 March 2015 52 —E—hE=-A=+—HILFE

2015 2014
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-RF —E-mF
B 5% FET FHET
Revenue I 2= 7 7,632 2,255
Cost of sales Fi k=AW (4,548) (2,062)
Gross profits ER 3,084 193
Other income H A A 7 27 394
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEAX (898) -
Administrative expenses T 2 (10,861) (7,430)
Other operating expenses gz (66,098) (51)
Loss before income tax MRETS B AT 18 8 (74,746) (6,894)
Income tax credit FrigfiE % 9 16,479 -
Loss for the year FEEE (58,267) (6,894)
Other comprehensive income HibZ2EBA
Items that may be reclassified HEn gt EF D EEEm. 2
subsequently to profit or loss HH
— Exchange difference on translation —MEBINETF I &
of financial statements of foreign EXCEHZER
operations 3 (156)
Total comprehensive income FEXEHBRALR
for the year (58,264) (7,050)
Loss for the year attributable to: ULTATEERFEFEESR:
Owners of the Company ZAN/NEIE/ RSN (58,027) (6,894)
Non-controlling interests FEIE AR (240) -
(58,267) (6,894)
Total comprehensive income LT ALER
attributable to: THEWALRE:
Owners of the Company VIN/NEIEZF =N (58,024) (7,050)
Non-controlling interests FEIEIRE (240) -
(58,264) (7,050)
Loss per share BREE 11
Basic and diluted (HK cents) EAXRREE (BW) (5.65) (0.85)

Bestway International Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2015
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

f 3 B 255 51K D e %

Asat31 March 2015 R —E—H F=A=+—H

W\

2015 2014
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
—E-HF —E—EF
B 5 FET FET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEERAE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment W WEREE 13 121 16
Mining rights KRB 14 671,624 737,561
671,745 737,577
Current assets REBEE
Trade receivables BRE SR 16 2,795 1,372
Inventories FE 17 1,277 615
Deposits, other receivables and & Hith & WGRIE & 18
prepayments TE IR 1,876 166
Cash and cash equivalents RekERREIER 19 97,361 24,514
103,309 26,667
Current liabilities REEE
Trade payables FETE SR 20 - 1,248
Accrued liabilities and other payables FEET B & K E b FE T FRR 21 1,812 2,131
1,812 3,379
Net current assets RBEEFE 101,497 23,288
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBESE 773,242 760,865
BREBREZERERADA

T -AFFR
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

B 1 0 25 51K D e

Asat31March2015 R=ZE—H F=A=+—H

2015 2014
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
=®-5% —FmF
B 5% FEx FET
Non-current liabilities FRBERE
Deferred tax liabilities REFHIBEEE 22 147,429 163,913
Net assets EEFRE 625,813 596,952
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to owners KRABEE A
of the Company EihER
Share capital N 23 52,296 44,796
Reserves G 24 570,632 552,156
622,928 596,952
Non-controlling interests FERER 2,885 -
Total equity ERBRE 625,813 596,952
Hu Yebi Liu Xueheng
HEE 22E
Director Director
2 -

48 Bestway International Holdings Limited
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Statement of Financial Position

b 385 IR D ¥ e

Asat31 March 2015 A —E—hF=A=+—H

2015 2014
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
—E-HF —E—EF
B 5 FET FET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment W WEREE 13 47 7
Investments in subsidiaries RB AR ZRE 15 = -
47 7
Current assets REBEE
Deposits, other receivables and %Re - Hith fEUREIE & 18
prepayments ICANE/S 7 155
Amounts due from subsidiaries JIE U B BB A B Zk A 15 545,464 759,427
Cash and cash equivalents RekFERIRELHEE 19 82,991 22,233
628,462 781,815
Current liabilities REBEE
Accrued liabilities and other payables FEEH B & R H B A 5R0E 21 1,150 827
Amount due to a subsidiary JEAS — MY B A Rl FRIE 15 - 1,051
1,150 1,878
Net current assets REBEEFHE 627,312 779,937
Total assets less current liabilities HWEERRBER 627,359 779,944
Net assets EEFE 627,359 779,944
EQUITY R
Share capital N 23 52,296 44,796
Reserves [ 24 575,063 735,148
Total equity BxReE 627,359 779,944
Hu Yebi Liu Xueheng
2 g8
Director Director
EZE EZE
BREBREZERERADA

T -AFFR
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
ARO MR B R

For the year ended 31 March 2015 BiEZ =%

—HFE=ZA=1+—BLFE

Equity attributable to the Company’s owners

ARAREAELER
Exchange Non-
Share Share Contributed fluctuation  Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium* surplus* reserve* losses* Total interests equity
(note 24(a)) (note 24(b)) (note 24(c)) (note 24(d))
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B& R EE BHER EXRDHEE 2RER" ag FERER BRAE
(Fisk24(a)) GEZZO) (Hi#F24(0) GEZL0)
TR TiEn Ti#n TiEn TR TR TiEn TiEn
At 1 April 2013 R-E-=#mA-H 37,336 734,069 52,743 45 (254,304) 569,889 - 569,889
Loss for the year FEEE - - - - (6,894) (6,894) - (6,894)
Other comprehensive income Hit2EWE
- Exchange difference on -HEENER
translation of financial HBBRREEL
statements of foreign ERZR
operations - - - (156) - (156) - (156)
Total comprehensive income FEXANGEE
for the year - - - (156) (6,894) (7,050) - (7,050)
Issue of shares (note 23(a)) ESTUIGEER)) 7,460 26,653 - - - 34,113 - 34,113
At 31 March 2014 and 1 April 2014  R-Z-M%F
“A=+-Bk
—Z-NENA-H 44,796 760,722 52,743 (111) (261,198) 596,952 - 596,952
Loss for the year FEEE - - - - (58,027) (58,027) (240) (58,267)
Other comprehensive income Hit2m s
- Exchange difference on -HEENER
translation of financial BBRRELL
statements of foreign EiEE
operations - - - 3 - 3 - 3
Total comprehensive income FREANEER
for the year - - - 3 (58,027) (58,024) (240) (58,264)
Issue of shares (note 23(c)) BB (Fi230) 7,500 76,500 - - - 84,000 - 84,000
Capital contribution from non- FERERTE
controlling interest - - - - - - 3,125 3,125
At 31 March 2015 R-E-1F
ZA=t-H 52,296 837,222 52,743 (108) (319,225) 622,928 2,885 625,813
* The consolidated reserves of the Group of approximately * REAEEEAVBRABRAMEZINEAER
HK$570,632,000 (2014: HK$552,156,000) as at 31 March 2015 as RZE-—RAF =A==+ —BZHEAREBY

presented in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position

comprised these reserve accounts.

Bestway International Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2015
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Al amEg

For the year ended 31 March 2015 E —T—RAF=A=+—HIFE

2015 2014
HK$'000 HK$’'000
—B-IF —E-lEF
THERT FET
Cash flows from operating activities REEBZHRERE
Loss before income tax BRETIS T AT S8 (74,746) (6,894)
Adjustments for: KRBT SIEA:
Interest income MEWA (27) .
Impairment loss on mining rights HERE 2 REEE 65,937 .
Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment 1%~ BFE K&k 2
B EE - 44
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME - BMERRELITE 16 63
Operating loss before working capital changes CEESPHA I LEER (8,820) (6,787)
Increase in inventories FEEM (662) (615)
Increase in trade receivables FEUE SRR R38N (1,423) (1,372)
(Increase)/Decrease in prepayments, TET A - EAth IR IE K
other receivables and deposits e (gm) R (1,710) 707
(Decrease)/Increase in trade payables FEREZER CRL) /18 (1,248) 1,248
Decrease in accrued liabilities and other payables FEET & & K FE A BR ORI (319) (733)
Cash used in operations KERMAZR® (14,182) (7,552)
Interest income FE WA 55 _
Tax paid [EENETRE (5) -
Net cash used in operating activities AERBITHC B F R (14,160) (7,552)
Cash flows from investing activities RETHZHERE
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BEWME KELEHE (122) (16)
Net cash used in investing activities KEZEIFHZHEFHE (122) (16)
Cash flows from financing activities METHZ2RERE
Net proceeds from issue of shares BITIRD 2 TS 5B R R 84,000 34,113
Increase in loans from shareholders 1% 3 & F} 38 0 - 4,000
Repayment of loans from shareholders 1B B AR M8 K - (7,000)
Capital contribution from non-controlling interest FEIERERITE 3,125 -
Net cash generated from financing activities BEZEECHEFRE 87,125 31,113
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents RERERABRSEBEMNFHE 72,843 23,545
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes IEERBFHHE 4 525
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April REUE—HBHZHRER
SEBRLEAE 24,514 444
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March R=EA=+—BZEEK
SEBALEE 97,361 24,514
BREBRERERAR

T -AFFR
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

Bestway International Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with
limited liability under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda
on 18 August 1995. The registered office of the Company is
located at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM
11, Bermuda. The principal place of business of the Company
is located at Suite 1018, 10th Floor, Central Tower, 28 Queen’s
Road Central, Hong Kong. The Company's shares were listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the "HKEx") on 2 October 1995.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The principal activities of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out
in note 15 to the financial statements.

The financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2015
were approved and authorised for issue by the board of
directors on 26 June 2015.

APPLICATIONS OF HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs")

(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs -
effective on 1 April 2014

In the current year, the Company and its subsidiaries
(the "Group”) has applied for the first time the
following new and revised standards issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA"), which are relevant to and effective for
the Group's financial statements for the annual period
beginning on 1 April 2014:

Amendments to Offsetting Financial Assets and
HKAS 32 Liabilities

HK (IFRIC) — Int 21 Levies

Bestway International Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2015
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Notes to the Financial Statements

St 85 i 7% B

31 March 2015 ZE—HF=HA=+—H

2.

APPLICATIONS OF HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (continued)

(a)

(b)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs -
effective on 1 April 2014 (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 32 - Offsetting Financial
Assets and Liabilities

The amendments clarify the offsetting requirements by
adding appliance guidance to HKAS 32 which clarifies
when an entity “currently has a legally enforceable right
to set off” and when a gross settlement mechanism
is considered equivalent to net settlement. The
amendments are applied retrospectively.

The adoption of the amendments has no impact on
these financial statements as the Group does not have
any offsetting arrangements.

HK (IFRIC) - Int 21 - Levies

HK (IFRIC) — Int 21 clarifies that an entity recognises
a liability to pay a levy imposed by government when
the activity that triggers payment, as identified by the
relevant legislation, occurs. The interpretation has been
applied retrospectively.

The adoption of HK (IFRIC) —
on these financial statements as the interpretation is
consistent with the Group’s previous application of its
accounting policies on provisions.

Int 21 has no impact

New/revised HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective

The following new/revised HKFRSs, potentially relevant
to the Group's financial statements, have been issued,
but are not yet effective and have not been early
adopted by the Group.
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2.

APPLICATIONS OF HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs") (continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective
(Continued)
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© 58 i 1 o R A SR A # AT
S RIETERUBREE
Bl (#%)

Amendments to Disclosure Initiative' BERGEN  BEHEN
HKAS 1 ES b
(1BETA)
Amendments to Equity Method in Separate BEGHEN BUMBEREN
HKAS 27 Financial Statements’ 2275 A
(1BEIAK)

HKFRS 9 (2014) Financial Instruments®

BEPBRE RIA
AERIZE95%

(ZF—m%)
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with BEHBHRE BEFPEHKE
Customers? RIS 155

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 ! RZE—AR"F—-—A—H=kUE
January 2016 g2 FE M E K

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 : RZE—+tF—A—H=UUE
January 2017 g2 FE M E K

B Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 : RZZE-NF—A—H=LE
January 2018 g2 FE M E K

Information on new and amended HKFRSs that are
expected to have impact on the Group is explained as
follows. Other new or revised HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective are unlikely to have
material impact on the Group's results and financial
position upon application.

Amendments to HKAS 1 — Disclosure Initiative

The amendments are designed to further encourage
companies to apply professional judgement in
determining what information to disclose in their
financial statements. For example, the amendments
make clear that materiality applies to the whole of
financial statements and that the inclusion of immaterial
information can inhibit the usefulness of financial
disclosures. Furthermore, the amendments clarify
that companies should use professional judgement in
determining where and in what order information is
presented in the financial disclosures.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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2.

APPLICATIONS OF HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 27 - Equity Method in
Separate Financial Statements

The amendments allow an entity to apply the equity
method in accounting for its investments in subsidiaries,
joint ventures and associates in its separate financial
statements.

HKFRS 9 (2014) - Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the
classification and measurement of financial assets.
Debt instruments that are held within a business model
whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows (the business model test) and
that have contractual terms that give rise to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding (the contractual cash flow
characteristics test) are generally measured at amortised
cost. Debt instruments that meet the contractual cash
flow characteristics test are measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI") if
the objective of the entity’s business model is both to
hold and collect the contractual cash flows and to sell
the financial assets. Entities may make an irrevocable
election at initial recognition to measure equity
instruments that are not held for trading at FVTOCI. All
other debt and equity instruments are measured at fair
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL").

HKFRS 9 includes a new expected loss impairment
model for all financial assets not measured at FVTPL
replacing the incurred loss model in HKAS 39 and new
general hedge accounting requirements to allow entities
to better reflect their risk management activities in
financial statements.
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2.

APPLICATIONS OF HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs") (continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective
(Continued)

HKFRS 9 (2014) - Financial Instruments
(Continued)

HKFRS 9 carries forward the recognition, classification
and measurement requirements for financial liabilities
from HKAS 39, except for financial liabilities designated
at FVTPL, where the amount of change in fair value
attributable to change in credit risk of the liability is
recognised in other comprehensive income unless that
would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch. In
addition, HKFRS 9 retains the requirements in HKAS
39 for derecognition of financial assets and financial
liabilities.

HKFRS 15 — Revenue from Contracts with
Customers

The new standard establishes a single revenue
recognition framework. The core principle of the
framework is that an entity should recognise revenue
to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to
customers in an amount that reflects the consideration
to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange
for those goods and services. HKFRS 15 supersedes
existing revenue recognition guidance including HKAS
18 Revenue, HKAS 11 Construction Contracts and
related interpretations.
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2.

APPLICATIONS OF HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective
(Continued)

HKFRS 15 — Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (Continued)

HKFRS 15 requires the application of a 5 steps approach
to revenue recognition:

o Step 1:  Identify the contract(s) with a
customer

° Step 2: Identify the performance obligations
in the contract

° Step 3: Determine the transaction price

° Step 4:  Allocate the transaction price to each
performance obligation

o Step 5  Recognise revenue when each

performance obligation is satisfied

HKFRS 15 includes specific guidance on particular
revenue related topics that may change the current
approach taken under HKFRS. The standard also
significantly enhances the qualitative and quantitative
disclosures related to revenue.

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
the potential impact of these new pronouncements. The
directors so far concluded that the application of these
new pronouncements will have no material impact on
the Group's financial statements.
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(a)

(b)

(o)

Statement of compliance

The financial statements on pages 46 to 104 have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs which collective
term includes all applicable individual HKFRSs, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued
by the HKICPA. The financial statements also include the
applicable disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the HKEx.

Basis of measurement

The financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost basis. The measurement bases are fully
described in the accounting policies below.

The significant accounting policies that have been
used in the preparation of these financial statements
are summarised below. The policies that have been
consistently applied to all the years presented unless
otherwise stated.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and
assumptions are used in preparation of the financial
statements. Although these estimates are based on
management’'s best knowledge and judgement of
current events and actions, actual results may ultimately
differ from those estimates. The areas involving a
higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
financial statements, are disclosed in note 5.

Functional and presentation currency
The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong

Dollars (“HK$"), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company.

Bestway International Holdings Limited
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

(a)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
made up to 31 March each year.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are de-
consolidated from the date that control ceases. The
results of the subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income from the effective date of
acquisition or up to the effective date of the disposal, as
appropriate.

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for
as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the
Group's interest and the non-controlling interest are
adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests
in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount
by which the non-controlling interest is adjusted and
the fair value of the consideration paid or received is
recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of
the Company.

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-
controlling interests that represent present ownership
interests in the subsidiary is the amount of those
interests at initial recognition plus such non-controlling
interest’s share of subsequent changes in equity. Total
comprehensive income is attributed to such non-
controlling interests even if this results in those non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised
gains and losses on transactions between group
companies are eliminated in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Where unrealised losses on intra-
group asset sales are reversed on consolidation, the
underlying asset is also tested for impairment from the
Group's perspective. Amounts reported in the financial
statements of subsidiaries have been adjusted where
necessary to ensure consistency with the accounting
policies adopted by the Group.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiary is an investee over which the Company is able
to exercise control. The Company controls an investee if
all three of the following elements are present: power
over the investee, exposure, or rights, to variable returns
from the investee, and the ability to use its power to
affect those variable returns. Control is reassessed
whenever facts and circumstances indicate that there

may be a change in any of these elements of control.

In the Company's statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less any
impairment loss unless the subsidiary is held for sale or
included in a disposal group. The results of subsidiaries
are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividends received and receivable.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes its
purchase price and the costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Bestway International Holdings Limited
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(c)

(d)

Property, plant and equipment
(Continued)

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other expenses such as repairs and
maintenance are recognised as an expense in profit
or loss during the financial period in which they are
incurred.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated so as to
write off their cost or valuation net of expected residual
value over their estimated useful lives on a straight-line
basis. The useful lives, residual value and depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at
the end of each reporting period. The useful lives are as
follows:

Furniture, fixtures and office 3 to 5 years
equipment and motor vehicles

An asset is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if its carrying amount is higher than the asset’s
estimated recoverable amount.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant
and equipment is the difference between the net sale
proceeds and its carrying amount, and is recognised in
profit or loss on disposal.

Mining rights

Mining rights are carried at cost and are subject to
amortisation upon commissioning of the mine for
production. Mining rights are depleted on the unit-of-
production basis over the total proven and probable
reserves of the mine concerned. Mining rights are also
subject for impairment testing whenever there are
indications that the assets’ carrying amount may not be
recoverable (note (e)).
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(e)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Property, plant and equipment, mining rights and
investments in subsidiaries are subject for impairment
testing. These assets are tested for impairment
whenever there are indications that the assets’ carrying
amount may not be recoverable.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, where
an asset does not generate cash inflows largely
independent from those of other assets, the recoverable
amount is determined for the smallest group of assets
that generate cash inflow independently (i.e. a cash-
generating unit). As a result, some assets are tested
individually for impairment and some are tested at cash-
generating unit level.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately for the amount by which the asset's
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of fair value, reflecting
market conditions less costs to sell, and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessment of
time value of money and the risk specific to the asset.

An impairment loss is subsequently reversed if there
has been a favourable change in the estimates used
to determine the asset’s recoverable amount and only
to the extent that the asset's carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no
impairment loss had been recognised. A reversal of
impairment loss is recognised as income immediately.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(f) Financial Instruments

(i)

(i)

Financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets at initial
recognition, depending on the purpose for which
the asset was acquired. The financial assets of
the Group are initially measured at fair value plus
transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition of the financial assets. Regular
way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. A regular way purchase or sale is a
purchase or sale of a financial asset under a
contract whose terms require delivery of the
asset within the time frame established generally
by regulation or convention in the marketplace
concerned.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments
that are not quoted in an active market.
They arise principally through the provision
of goods and services to customers (trade
receivables), and also incorporate other types
of contractual monetary asset. Subsequent to
initial recognition, they are carried at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less any
identified impairment losses.

Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group assesses, at the end of each reporting
period, whether there is any objective evidence
that financial asset is impaired. Financial asset
is impaired if there is objective evidence of
impairment as a result of one or more events
that has occurred after the initial recognition
of the asset and that event has an impact on
the estimated future cash flows of the financial
asset that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of
impairment may include:
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(f) Financial Instruments (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment loss on financial assets
(Continued)

- significant financial difficulty of the
debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a default
or delinquency in interest or principal
payments;

- granting concession to a debtor because
of debtor’s financial difficulty; and

- it becoming probable that the debtor
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss
when there is objective evidence that the asset
is impaired, and is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of the estimated future cash flows
discounted at the original effective interest rate.
The carrying amount of financial asset is reduced
through the use of an allowance account.
When any part of financial asset is determined
as uncollectible, it is written off against the
allowance account for the relevant financial
asset.

Impairment losses are reversed in subsequent
periods when an increase in the asset’s
recoverable amount can be related objectively
to an event occurring after the impairment was
recognised, subject to a restriction that the
carrying amount of the asset at the date the
impairment is reversed does not exceed what
the amortised cost would have been had the
impairment not been recognised.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(f) Financial Instruments (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Financial liabilities

The Group classified its financial liabilities,
depending on the purpose for which the
liabilities were incurred. Financial liabilities at
amortised cost are initially measured at fair
value, net of directly attributable costs incurred.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including
trade payables, accrued liabilities and other
payables and amount due to a subsidiary. They
are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method. The related
interest expense is recognised in profit or loss.

Gain or losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the liabilities are derecognised as well as
through the amortisation process.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset
or financial liability and of allocating interest
income or interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
or payments through the expected life of the
financial asset or liability, or where appropriate, a
shorter period.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(f) Financial Instruments (Continued)
(v) Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when
the contractual rights to the future cash flows
in relation to the financial asset expire or when
the financial asset has been transferred and the
transfer meets the criteria for derecognition in
accordance with HKAS 39.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the
obligation specified in the relevant contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires.

(vi)  Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct
issue costs.

(g) Inventories

Inventories are initially recognised at cost, and
subsequently at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost comprises purchase cost and, where
applicable, those overheads that have been incurred
in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition. Net realisable value is calculated as the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business
less the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(h)

()

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to the extent when it is probable
that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and
when the revenue can be measured reliably. Revenue is
measured at the fair value of the consideration received,
net of allowances for returns, trade discounts and value-
added tax. The following specific recognition criteria
must also be met before revenue is recognised:

- Sale of goods is recognised when the significant
risks and rewards of ownership have been
transferred to the customers, provided that the
Group maintains neither managerial involvement
to the degree usually associated with ownership,
nor effective control over the goods sold.
Normally, risk is transferred upon dispatch of
goods.

- Rental and management fee income is
recognised as service rendered.

- Interest income is recognised on a time-
proportion basis by reference to the principal
outstanding and at the effective interest rate
applicable.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
deferred tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary
activities adjusted for items that are non-assessable or
disallowable for income tax purposes and is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of reporting period.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

()

()]

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
corresponding amounts used for tax purposes. Except
for goodwill and recognised assets and liabilities that
affect neither accounting nor taxable profits, deferred
tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Deferred tax is measured at the tax
rates appropriate to the expected manner in which the
carrying amount of the asset or liability is realised or
settled and that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of reporting period.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except
when they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income in which case the taxes are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or when they
relate to any items recognised directly in equity in which
case the taxes are also recognised directly in equity.

Foreign currencies

In the individual financial statements of the consolidated
entities, foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency of the individual entity
using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. At the end of reporting period, monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at
that date. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and from
the retranslation of monetary assets and liabilities are
recognised in the profit or loss.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(1)

(k)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated
at the rate prevailing on the date of when fair value was
determined and are reported as part of the fair value
gain or loss. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

In consolidated financial statements, all individual
financial statements of foreign operations, originally
presented in a currency different from the Group's
presentation currency, have been converted into HKS$.
Assets and liabilities have been translated into HK$ at
the closing rate at the end of reporting period. Income
and expenses have been converted into the HK$ at
the average rates over the reporting period provided
that the exchange rates do not fluctuate significantly.
Any differences arising from this procedure have been
recognised in the other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in the translation reserve in
equity.

Employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits

Short term employee benefits are employee benefits
(other than termination benefits) that are expected to be
settled wholly before twelve months after the end of the
annual reporting period in which the employees render
the related service. Short term employee benefits are
recognised in the year when the employees render the
related service.

Defined contribution retirement plan
Contributions to defined contribution retirement plans

are recognised as an expense in profit or loss when the
services are rendered by the employees.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

() Related parties

(a)

A person or a close member of that person’s
family is related to the Group if that person:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

has control or joint control over the
Group;

has significant influence over the Group;
or

is a member of key management
personnel of the Group or the Company's
parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the

following conditions apply:

(M)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

The entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or
joint venture of a member of a group of
which the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the
same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third
entity and the other entity is an associate
of the third entity.

Bestway International Holdings Limited
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

U

(m)

Related parties (Continued)
(b) (Continued)

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of the employees
of the Group or an entity related to the
Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity).

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the
entity and include:

(i) that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner;
(ii) children of that person’s spouse or domestic

partner; and

(iii) dependents of that person or that person’s
spouse or domestic partner.

Lease

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership to lessee. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(m)

(n)

(o)

Lease (Continued)
The Group as lessee under operating lease

Where the Group has the right to use of assets held
under operating leases, payments made under the
leases are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the lease terms except where an alternative
basis is more representative of the time pattern of
benefits to be derived from the leased assets.
incentives received are recognised in profit or loss as an

integral part of the aggregate net lease payments made.

Lease

Contingent rentals are charged to profit or loss in the
accounting period in which they are incurred.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and
in banks and short-term deposits with original maturities
of three months or less that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash and are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value.

Segment reporting

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the directors
assess segment profit or loss by gross profit/loss less
selling expenses. The measurement policies used by
the Group for reporting segment results under HKFRS
8 are the same as those accounting policies used in its
financial statements prepared under HKFRSs. Segment
assets/liabilities have not been disclosed as such
amounts are not regularly provided to the directors for
resources allocation.

The Group determines its operating segment based on
the internal reports reviewed by the chief operating
decision-maker in order to allocate resources and to
assess segment performance.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4., BARETHEHRE @)
POLICIES (continued)

(0) Segment reporting (Continued) (o) DEFHME (&)

All of the Group's activities are engaged in the business REEBCZHBEREBEDORERE
of trading of goods. On 31 December 2009, the SGEB - AEER_ZZNEFETZ
Group completed its acquisitions of entire interest in A=+—HERBERTEAT 2
mining companies established in the Mongolia and REAAZ 28w - LB FRBT
henceforth became engaged in the mining business. ERBEEB-AM RKEBEHE
However, no active operation took place between the WEMRTEERNEE T B
date of acquisition and the end of the reporting period. b ANEBEZELERRERAE
Therefore, the Group's chief operating decision-maker RIBEEBI G WS ERIE8 2R
considers there to be only one operating segment under EoAREEER—ELEDEL -

the requirements of HKFRS 8.

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 5. EEgiEERAE

JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are et RABEREBELBRIAMAE
based on historical experiences and other factors, including PEEAETEBATHEREAEEENTE
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable HAR SR SE 4 - T B I A -

under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the REBEELEBRRNMGET RRE TG
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, HH @A R ERT  BE L ZEE
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and FANERER HSESHN T —EMEKF
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material ERHEENaBENREBEFELERNAR
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities B E KB BT KRR T X ETim o

within the next financial year are discussed below.

BREBZRERAA 73
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 5. EES AT RAE @)
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(i) Estimated impairment on mining rights (i) HEBEREZMFEE

Mining rights are assessed annually to determine for FRESTETIG UEERR
any indication of impairment. Where an indicator IR AR E IR K o 817 4 B E I
of impairment exists, a formal estimate of the S BlgEL KBS E 2 EX G
recoverable amount is made, which is the higher of o BDAFERHEE KA RS A E
the fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. BzREE ZETEERERM
These assessments require the use of estimates and PR REEE TR E.
assumptions such as long-term selling prices, discount RREGERKNEERT - A FE
rates, future capital requirements and operating EERMNEERETEATRZS5H
performance. Fair value is determined as the amount HELEEMEBES s R HEEY
that would be obtained from the sale of the asset in NP E-—MEABEYMS2EALT
an arm’s length transaction between knowledgeable AREZRzR& EERBELH
and willing parties. Fair value for the mining rights is BEEEZHFRREEREZR
generally determined as the present value of estimated B EFBEERREETE R
future cash flows arising from the continued use of IHEZRAZ B - RERETD
the asset, which includes estimates such as the cost HARMEESREENZEER
of future operating plans and eventual disposal, using BREE 2 &R 2 R BT
assumptions that an independent market participant REABEHBE - EREDTH
may take into account. Cash flows are discounted to HERBUBRR 2REEEEN
their present value using a post-tax discount rate that FRRESELEBURRERMAER
reflects current market assessments of the time value of FBEUYREMEE &EER R
money and the risks specific to the asset. Management BEFRZ2HE ERAFERERE
has assessed its cash-generating units as being an R VER B ET 18 4949,453,000/8 7T
individual mine site which is the lowest level for which (ZE—HF:m|) -

cash flows are largely independent of those of other
assets. Based on the directors’ assessment, impairment
loss approximately of HK$49,453,000 (net of tax) has
been provided on mining rights for the year (2014: Nil).

(ii) Useful lives of mining rights (i) HEETAFH

The Group’s management determines the estimated NEEE R E LAKRIA R B RS 05
useful lives for its mining rights based on the proven EREE BEEREEMGFAIRSF
and probable reserves. However, the mining rights Ho-AM WBEDNER=TFZF
were granted for terms of 30 years and renewable for HEREIAEBABE-_+F K
another 20 years. The directors of the Company are of NAEBEZRE AEEBEE
the opinion that the Group will be able to continuously SEEREESBEEMB AR K
renew the mining rights and the business license of BREREENR AL NEEMU
the respective mining subsidiaries at minimal charges. RALRMEESRE AE%E  h5t
Accordingly, the Group has used the proven and RIBEERTAFR -

probable reserves as a basis of estimation for the useful
lives of its mining rights.
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5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Useful lives of mining rights (Continued)

Amortisation rates are determined based on estimated
proven and probable mine reserve volume with
reference to the independent technical assessment
report. The estimates involve subjective judgements
in developing such information and have taken into
account the recent production and the technical
information about each mine. The capitalised cost
of mining rights are amortised using the units of
production method. Any change to the estimated
proven and probable mine reserves will affect
the amortisation charge of those mining rights.
Management will reassess the useful lives whenever the
ability to renew the mining rights and business license is
changed.

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business less
estimated costs of selling expenses. These estimates are
based on the current market condition and the historical
experience of selling products of similar nature. It could
change significantly as a result of competitors’ actions
in response to severe industry cycles. Management
reassesses the estimations at the end of reporting period
to ensure inventories are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value.

Impairment of trade receivables

The Group’s management assesses the collectability
of trade receivables. This estimate is based on the
credit worthiness and repayment history of the
Group’s customers and the current market condition.
Management reassesses if there is any indication of the
impairment loss at the end of reporting period.

5.
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6. AHTER

The chief operating decision-makers have been identified as EREARECHERB/ARBZHNTE
the Company's executive directors. Since no active operation $ MR BEAEE 2 SRIEES T 5 - RIS
took place between the date of acquisition and the end of the H Hﬂzifﬁi%q%iﬂﬁiﬁﬂ?éz%ﬁiﬁib =4
reporting period as to the Group’s mining business. Therefore, WITESRE BREESVBREERSE
the executive directors consider there to be only one operating 85t 2 HE - K%I@ﬁ*ﬂi‘”&’ﬁ% (Bp
segment (i.e. trading business) under the requirements of BH5ER) -

HKFRS 8.

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION

AEBEzZBmKARTFEARKME ([
BDEBEEZESGEE -TPZHMIEME
TRBREREERZMHET - ERPEE

Revenue of the Group was generated from trading business
in the People’s Republic of China (the "PRC”) and Hong
Kong. The geographical location of customers is determined
based on the location at which the goods were delivered. The R BETDRBEECER KL
geographical location of the non-current assets is based on the BE - TREAINEHRAEEKBINEEF
physical and operating locations of the assets. The following WEHENHIERBEEZ BN E 2 A -
table sets out information about the geographical location

of the Group’s revenue from external customers and its non-

current assets.

Turnover from

external customers Non-current assets

76
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REIREFZEETE IRBEE
2015 2014 2015 2014
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
—E-HF —E—mMF —Z-8F —E-mME
FERT FET FET FET
The Republic of Mongolia 5 & £ A E
(“Mongolia”) (IE41) - - 671,624 737,563
The PRC # 7,473 1,173 74 7
Hong Kong BA 159 1,082 47 7
7,632 2,255 671,745 737,577
For the year ended 31 March 2015, approximately BHE-_E-—RF=A=+—HIEFE"

HK$2,308,000 or 30.2% and HK$2,427,000 or 31.8% of the
Group's revenue were derived from Customer A and Customer
B respectively in the trading business. For the year ended 31
March 2014, revenue from a single customer amounting to
HK$1,173,000 had accounted for over 10% of the Group's

revenue.
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7. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME 7.

Revenue of the Group, which is also the turnover of the
Group, represents the net invoiced value of goods sold, net of
allowances for returns, trade discounts and value-added tax. An
analysis of the Group’s revenue and other income is as follows:

W g K H Atb U A

AEBEZWE TRAAKREZEXRE &
NBRERE BHWMEEERRER M
EEmBERFE FNEBEREREMKA
ZOMET

2015 2014
HK$'000 HK$'000
—Z2-5H%F —EF-mF
FHERT FET
Revenue Y 2=
Sale of goods HEE M 7,632 2,255
Other income Hib g A
Interest income on bank deposits WITHFRZFE WA 27 -
Rental and management fee income HeREEBRA - 394
27 394
8. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX 8. KRFEHAEE
Loss before income tax is arrived at after charging: BRETSBATEIE MR TS HEE
e
2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$'000
“B-EF —E-mEF
FTERT FHT
Auditor’s remuneration % B AL B 588 580
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses ERARE 2 FEMAR 4,548 2,062
Depreciation of property, plant and mE- - BEREZETE
equipment 16 63
Impairment loss on mining rights (note 14) g 2 RERE (HE14) 65,937 -
Impairment loss on property, plant and ME - BRENEEREEE
equipment - 44
Staff costs (excluding directors’ emoluments) B TR A (TEEZEZEE) 2,080 883
Defined contribution costs FE H KA 62 38
Total staff costs BTN B 2,142 921
Operating lease charges in respect of office ~ BRPAEWEZKLE
premises HEZ W 1,094 706
BREBRERERAR
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9.

INCOME TAX CREDIT

FRrEeBiER

2015 2014
HK$'000 HK$'000
—EB-HF —E—F
FHERT FET

PRC enterprise income tax B ERERN
— Current year —AREE 4 -

Hong Kong profits tax EREFEH

— Under provision in prior year —-REFERETR 1 -
Deferred tax credit (note 22) FEEFREEE % (Mi5E22) (16,484) -
Total income tax credit FrieBiE e 45 (16,479) -

Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at 16.5% on the estimated
assessable profits for the year (2014: Nil).

Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") arising from the PRC is calculated
on the estimated assessable profits for the year according to
the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC. The applicable tax
rate for the EIT is 25%. No EIT was provided for the year ended
31 March 2014 as the Group had no assessable profit.

Subsidiaries incorporated in Mongolia are subject to Mongolian
income tax which is calculated at the rate of 10% on the first 3
billion Mongolian Turgrik (“MNT") of taxable income and 25%
on the amount in excess thereof. No income tax was provided
as these Mongolian subsidiaries have not derived any taxable
income during the year ended 31 March 2015 (2014: Nil).

Bestway International Holdings Limited
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9. INCOME TAX CREDIT (continued) 9. FBHRER @)
A reconciliation of the income tax credit and the accounting RREANERRAGFRENRESE RGFEKX
loss at applicable tax rates is presented below: RTX275:
2015 2014
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-REF —E-NE
FHET FET
Loss before income tax B P15 56 A 5 18 (74,746) (6,894)
Tax calculated at the rates applicable to REARESBHBEEERE
losses in the respective jurisdiction BB RHE IR (17,996) (1,084)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses PRI MBS 2 MG 2 1,174 159
Tax effect of utilisation of tax loss not EEARERNIBEEE 2B
recognised T - (6)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERBIEBE BB 2 342 947
Underprovision of tax expenses in prior year —FFEF BN BEET R 1 -
Others HAh = (16)
Income tax credit PRI % (16,479) -
10. LOSS FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO 10. ARAFEEAREFEBE
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY
Of the consolidated losses for the year attributable to owners REARBAEEAREFERABRR
of the Company of HK$58,027,000 (2014: HK$6,894,000), a 58,027,000/ 7T (=% — MU 4 : 6,894,000
loss of HK$6,659,000 (2014: HK$6,315,000) has been dealt 7B IT) H &5 186,659,000 T (ZF — I
with in the financial statements of the Company. % :6,315,0008 7T ) ER AR A &
WEIE o
11. LOSS PER SHARE 11. BRE®E

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss
for the year attributable to owners of the Company of
HK$58,027,000 (2014: HK$6,894,000) and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year of
1,027,420,000 (2014: 814,159,000) ordinary shares.

Diluted loss per share for years ended 31 March 2015 and 2014
are the same as the basic losses per share as the Company has
no dilutive potential ordinary shares outstanding during both
years.

BRENEBIENEA ARG AEGE
4 [E E51858,027,00058 T ( = F — U 4F
6,894,000/ 7T ) R F AL 1T BRI N
FEF 19 %01,027,420,0000% ( —F — PO 4
814,159,000/% ) & iBARET & ©

HREBE_T-—RAFA_FT-—HF=A
=+ —BUEFERRBLEERE W ARET
BELAR WNZMESE 28R EE
BEEGREREBIEHER -

BREBREZERERADA
T -AFFR
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12. EMOLUMENTS FOR DIRECTORS AND 12. EEREEEENS
SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EEHS
Salaries, Retirement
allowances scheme
Fees and benefits contributions Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EZc A= 3: 195
ik BR BRAKRE B W
TET TFET FET FET
Year ended 31 March 2015 HZ=-Z-1%
ZA=t-HLEE
Executive directors: HiTEE:
Mr. Mung Kin Keung SERTE 60 - - 60
Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan Sm X i 176 - 6 182
Mr. Hu Yebi’ HHEEL - 165 3 168
Mr. Liu Xueheng' A2 EEE - 165 3 168
Mr. Ha Wing Ho, Peter? Mok & 52 17 - - 17
Non-executive directors: HHTEE:
Mr. Chee Man Sang, Eric BRERE 60 - - 60
Mr. Tang Shu Pui, Simon HEEEE 60 - - 60
Independent non-executive BUHHTEE
directors:
Mr. Chan Wai Man BRERLTE 60 - - 60
Mr. Tsui Sai Ming, Steven Rt AL E 60 - - 60
Mr. Ng Chun Chuen, David RIERFEHE 60 - - 60
553 330 12 895
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12. EMOLUMENTS FOR DIRECTORS AND 12. EEREEEENS w)
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) (a) EE=ME (@)
Salaries, Retirement
allowances scheme
Fees and benefits contributions Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Ho 2R
we ‘A ERRETEIMER 1K
FHET FET FHET FHT
Year ended 31 March 2014 HE-Z-M4F
ZRA=T-BIEE
Executive directors: HiTEE:
Mr. Ha Wing Ho, Peter Bk REE 56 - 3 59
Mr. Mung Kin Keung SR®ELE 27 - - 27
Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan SmNEE 27 - - 27
Mr. Wu Jiang? RERE 131 - 5 136
Mr. Zhang Qianjin* R I 2 4 26 - - 26
Mr. Chim Kim Lun, Ricky® ERlELES 8 - - 8
Mr. Law Fei Shing® BB L ES 39 - 2 41
Non-executive directors: HHTEE:
Mr. Chee Man Sang, Eric WRELE 60 - - 60
Mr. Tang Shu Pui, Simon HEBEE 60 - - 60

Independent non-executive BUHHTEE

directors:
Mr. Chan Wai Man BRERLE 54 - - 54
Mr. Tsui Sai Ming, Steven fRitm\EE 54 - - 54
Mr. Ng Chun Chuen, David RIRFEE 49 - - 49
Mr. Au Kwok Yee, Benjamin®  Bi % % 45 8 - - 8
Ms. Lau Siu Ngor® N e 8 - -
Mr. Lum Pak Sum’ AR T4 13 - - 13

620 - 10 630
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12. EMOLUMENTS FOR DIRECTORS AND 12. EERGEEEME @
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) (a) EEME &)
Notes: B 5
' Mr. Hu Yebi and Mr. Liu Xueheng were appointed as ! HBBERERBBELRER
the executive directors of the Company on 11 July T-MNELA+-REREA
2014. REZHTESE-
2 Mr. Ha Wing Ho, Peter resigned on 11 July 2014. ’ BKREERZT—NE+ A
+—HEHTE-
: Mr. Wu Jiang resigned on 20 March 2014, ’ RELER-ZZT—NMF=A
—t+ BB
4 Mr. Zhang Qiangjin resigned on 22 October 2013. N RATERENR T —=F+ A
ZtHZHEHE
B Mr. Chim Kim Lun, Ricky resigned on 23 April 2013. ’ ERlertdERN_—F—=F1A
Z+=H#&E-
o Mr. Law Fei Shing, Mr. Au Kwok Yee, Benjamin and Ms. ¢ BEEB AL BEEEERE
Lau Siu Ngor resigned on 10 May 2013. PEETRZT—=Fh A+
HEtE-
/ Mr. Lum Pak Sum resigned on 31 May 2013. ! MBHREENR _—FT—=F0A
=+—BEE-
(b) Five highest paid individuals (b) EUBESFMAL
The emoluments of the five highest individuals in the FH-ARBRUSSFMALE
Group for the year included one (2014: one) director B (ZF—m:—h)EF %
whose emolument is reflected in the analysis presented Z B B £33 A S BR < g T Y
above. The emoluments payable to the remaining four iz (=T~ : i) &= H A
: PN —.
(2014 four) highest paid individuals are as follows: TRERNZHMEWT
2015 2014
HK$'000 HK$'000
=F-—1% —T-mF
FTER FET
Salaries, allowances and other e R NEMET
benefits 1,179 672
Defined contribution costs FE KR 48 27
1,227 699
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12. EMOLUMENTS FOR DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b)

(c)

Five highest paid individuals (Continued)

The number of non-director individuals fell within the
following emolument band:

12.

BEENESEEEME @)

(b)

TfusESHFMAL (&)

AEEMENFTHEEZFES
=N - &

2015 2014
“B-IF —E-F
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ 21,000,000/ 7T 4 4

The emoluments paid or payable to members of senior
management were within in the following band:

ENEENEEERZHENFT
(PN &

2015 2014

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

—E-RF —T-lEF

A A

Nil to HK$500,000 L £500,000/% 7T 10 15

No emolument was paid by the Group to the directors
or any of the five highest paid individuals as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as
compensation for loss of office.

(c)

AREEMESESIEFTHEMAN
REFMALIMAKREBSIEREE
BemEmREE N ETHE -

BREBREZERERADA
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. ¥ BERZE

Group Company
AEE NN
Furniture, Furniture,
fixtures, fixtures,
equipment and and
motor vehicles equipment
HK$°000 HK$'000
B -BEEXE- B BEEXE
RERAE &S
FERT FERT
Cost A
At 1 April 2013 R-E—=¢mA—A 349 -
Additions NE 16 8
Impairment loss BEEE (261) -
Exchange realignment Rk (73) -
At 31 March 2014 and 1 April 2014 RZE—NF=ZA=+—H8BxK
—ET-WHFMA—H 31 8
Additions NE 122 50
Exchange realignment I 3, 38 B (2) -
At 31 March 2015 RZZE—RAF=A=+—H 151 58
Accumulated depreciation HItIE
At 1 April 2013 RZE—=FHWA—H 222 -
Charge for the year FEREZ 63 1
Written off i 85 (217) -
Exchange realignment M 3, 3 B (53) -
At 31 March 2014 and 1 April 2014 RZZE—NMFE=R=+—8
MZZ—NHFMA—H 15 1
Charge for the year FERX 16 10
Exchange realignment ME B (1) -
At 31 March 2015 W_Z-—RF=RA=+—H 30 11
Net carrying amount BREFE
At 31 March 2015 RZZE—RF=A=1T—H 121 47
At 31 March 2014 RZZE—WOF=F=+—H 16 7
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14. MINING RIGHTS 14. BRUERE

Group

AEE
2015 2014
HK$°000 HK$'000
—2-hf —T—mE
FHET FET
Opening net carrying amount FHzEEFE 737,561 735,657

Transfer from exploration and HEEWRETHEE

evaluation assets - 1,904
Impairment loss DERESE (65,937) -
Closing net carrying amount FRZEHEFE 671,624 737,561

The mining rights represent the rights to conduct mining
activities in the location of Nogoonnuur Soum and Tsengel
Soum of Bayan-Ulgii Aimag in Mongolia, and have legal lives of
16 to 21 years, expiring in July 2031, March 2033, December
2035 and July 2036, respectively. The mining licenses are issued
by Mineral Resources and Petroleum Authority of Mongolia and
may be extended for two successive additional periods of 20
years each. In the opinion of the directors, the application for
extension is procedural and the Group should be able to renew
its mining licenses at minimal charges, until all the proven
and probable minerals have been mined. In 2013, the Group
appointed a qualified mineral technical adviser to prepare a
resource estimation and engaged a Mongolian professional
firm to review and update the feasibility study report and the
environmental impact assessment report on the above tungsten
mines. No active mining operation of the Group has taken place
yet.

REEEITNREEEEEIERKER
MM MESSMETRBES 2R - &
EEHAETAFEZE_+—F HHR=_=F
=+ AHA E==F=-AH--Z=TF
F+_ARZZE=R"FLAER - BEMH
FHRASHEEERRABEERE
A EEBEMN BIR20F - EER
B BRBEMEATKERERF A%
EEAEHEERFEARMESENK
N BEEMAERBRMG 2ERDEREK
BlE-RZZE—=F AEBEEZE—FE
BERBEERMEMRRE RN G REE—
MEHEERRENMENEH LilEE
Z AT RS MR B RS -
AEBE M ARETERERESER -
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14.

MINING RIGHTS (continued)

In last financial year, in response to a letter issued by a
Mongolian Province Governor which required the Group
to make submission on the timing of commencement of
mining operations or otherwise certain mining licenses might
be revoked, the Group entered into a memorandum of
understanding with China Metallurgical Geology Bureau of
Shandong (the “Contractor”) on 22 May 2013, pursuant to
which the Group agreed to engage the Contractor to conduct
mining activities, including development and exploitation of all
of its Mongolian tungsten mines. Subsequently on 2 October
2013, the Group engaged Mongolia Zhenyuan Company
Limited (“Mongolia Zhenyuan”), an associated company of the
Contractor, to conduct mining area geological survey, tunnel
investigation and sample collection. However, the Group and
Mongolia Zhenyuan is still in the process of negotiation of the
relevant mining terms and consideration for incorporation into
a formal and legally binding cooperation agreement which,
however, is not yet concluded and entered into up to the
reporting date. During the current year, the Group has further
engaged a mining professional to prepare an updated feasibility
study report for the tungsten mines. Based on the foregoing,
the directors expect that the exploitation of the mines will take
place no later than the end of 2017.

With reference to the opinion from the Group’s Mongolian
legal advisers dated 26 June 2015, the directors are of the
opinion that the Group is in compliance with all laws and
governmental rules and regulations in Mongolia and the
Group's mining rights are still in effect and in good standing as
at the reporting date.

Bestway International Holdings Limited
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BHERAEBRIAREEESERME -
BRIT e MEE THRERE Z KiEF - »
—E—=FRA-+ B AEEEFHE
BeHEARLRER ([AEl])slx—
NHRBEESE Bt AEBEEREEE
EEEETHRELTE RERAEMAFRE
PHMERBEE-EEN T —=F+A=
B ASBZEARBRHIBERASTEIE
TERAR ([EHET]ETRERME
AL BEATREAWRE AT AER
HBEHETFEEERBHEAERNREER
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EE=ZA=+—HR

MINING RIGHTS (continued)

At 31 March 2015, the directors re-assessed the recoverable
amount of the cash generating unit that holds mining rights
(the “Mining CGU") by using fair value less costs of disposal,
which is derived by using discounted cash flow analysis. The
discount cash flow analysis has incorporated assumptions that
a typical market participant would use in estimating the fair
value of the Mining CGU. The discount cash flows analysis
uses cash flow projection for a period of 3 to 7 years and the
discount rates applied to the cash flow projection are 22.71%-
24.63% (2014: 22.10%-24.31%). In determining the discount
rates, the weighted average cost of capital was used, which
is determined with reference to the industry capital structure
of market comparables with mining projects, and have taken
into account the specific risks encountered by the Mining CGU.
Other key assumptions adopted include estimated selling price
with nil growth rate, industry average gross margin, estimated
mine reserve based on technical assessment reports and the
expectation for market development. The fair value of the
Mining CGU is a level 3 fair value measurement. There was no
change to the valuation technique during the year.

With reference to the assessment, the directors are of the view
that the recoverable amount of the Mining CGU is estimated
to be HK$524,195,000 and therefore an impairment loss of
HK$49,453,000 (net of tax) in respect of the Mining CGU was
identified for the year ended 31 March 2015. The impairment
loss is allocated to write down the carrying amount of the
mining rights by HK$65,937,000, together with a tax effect
of HK$16,484,000 credited to profit or loss. The impairment
is primarily due to decline in the estimated selling price of
tungsten concentrate products during the year.

14.

w

RUERE (&)

R_E—RAF=ZA=+—H Z2ECEB
FRAATEBRHEXNANEHRIHFAER
BREZESCEAEM([RBERSELE
) zakoezE  WHEBASITRBEESR
EOMHESL -HRBLRESDNEMN
ABRBTIESEEBRGARERSE

$1Z ANEERREAZBER -TERAS

E Tﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ K‘tggﬂfﬁ]ziﬁi/mi
ﬁm BEARREREBEAZITREA
22.71% - 24.63% ( ZZ—MH4F :22.10%
- 2431%) - REEIHEXE  SHAMN
BFHERKA wLZERBEBEE M
B LRIBE 2 ITEBRNEBEE it &
%xﬁ%ﬁi?i SNLAER 2 K TR o FTER
MzEMTFERIVDRBTERE2GHFE
E\jﬁiﬁ%ﬂ$~ﬂﬁ&m%ﬁﬁ%
ZIEFTEERELRTISER AR HE
ReELEN A TFEDRFENEZE
o HERMNFARALESS -

BEF G BEERA RERSELSEN
2 A] Yg [B] & BA {f 5T 4524,195,00078 7T
it - RBEE-_Z—RF=ZA=+—8
HtFERRBERESESCEUBRARES
8 549,453,000/ 7T (MR IE) © %R
B &5 18 Ty 9 B DA £ 18 7 2 AR TE (8 HUR

65,937,0008 7T CGERFABZ 2 HEF
£16,484,0008 70) - REETEZRHIERFE

EmBAEERFA KM
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INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

15. AMBRARIZRE

Company
ARAH

2015 2014
HK$"000 HK$'000
—E-5H% —FnF
FAR FER
Unlisted investments FLmEE - -
Amounts due from subsidiaries & W B B8~ B F R 775,390 759,427
Less: Provision for impairment R ORE B (229,926) -
545,464 759,427
Amount due to a subsidiary FEAT — B A R IR - (1,051)

Amounts due from/(to) subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free
and repayable on demand.

The Company has four directly held wholly-owned subsidiaries
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. Three of them have
investment cost of US$1 each and the remaining one was fully
impaired in prior years.

Particulars of the subsidiaries as at 31 March 2015 are as
follows:

Place of incorporation/

Name of subsidiary registration and operations

Issued share/paid- up
registered capital

fElk (REf) B A FISE AMIER %
BRAREREE-

ARRENHEB2ENERRELER
LRSS EMAI - R =R REKRA R
X H TN -HNRECKRBEFES
LR

W-F—HF=A=+—B2HEATZ
HENT

Percentage of equity
attributable to

the Company Principal activities

BRATREA/BE
WELREH SRR ERREEEH HEMER AREEERER DL TEEH
Direct Indirect
=8 B
Bestway Group International British Virgin Islands/ Us$1,100 100 - Investment holding
Limited Hong Kong
RERRRE/BE 1,100% 7T 100 - REZRK
Wide Flourish Investments Limited ~ British Virgin Islands Us$1 100 - Dormant
ERREERAF RBRLEE (ETH 100 - BEEHG
Tectron Pacific Limited British Virgin Islands/ Us$1 100 - Investment holding
Hong Kong
RERRRE/BE (E 100 - REZRK
Best Future Investments Limited British Virgin Islands Us$1 100 - Dormant
ERREERAT RBRLEE (ETH 100 - BEEHG

Bestway International Holdings Limited
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15. RHEEBRARIZKRE (&)

Percentage of equity
attributable to

15. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Name of subsidiary

Place of incorporation/
registration and operations

Issued share/paid- up
registered capital

the Company

Principal activities

BRITRG /B
WEARARE MR EMREE Y HEMER ARRAEEREEAL TEEH
Direct Indirect
EE B
Best Shield Enterprises Limited British Virgin Islands US$51 - 100 Dormant
)il S1%TT - 100 EEEH
Prolific Rich Limited British Virgin Islands/ US$1 - 100 Investment holding
Mongolia
LHRBRRA HEERHE/5H 1%7T - 100 ®REEFRK
Grand Shing Limited British Virgin Islands/ US$1 - 100 Investment holding
Mongolia
ShEBRRA HEERHE/5H 1%7T - 100 ®REEFRK
Giant Silver Limited Hong Kong/The PRC HK$1 - 100 Investment holding and
trading business
REBERDA BE/HE &L - 100 REZBRREFHER
Happy Trip Limited Hong Kong HK$1,200,002 - 100 Dormant
REERAF BB 1,200,002/ 1 - 100 EEEH
Happy Concord Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Trading business
Bk VBT - 100 EB5%H
Future Technology Company The PRC HK$10,000,000 - 100 Trading business
Limited*
ERRR CRIDER A i 10,000,0007% 7T - 100 EB5%H
TREBRERRAA The PRC RMB10,000,000 - 75  Trading business
HE AR #10,000,00070 - 5 BHEK
Kainarwolfram LLC Mongolia US$100,000 - 100 Mining and exploitation of
natural resources
B 100,000% 7T - 100 RBEROERAER
lkh Uuliin Erdenes LLC Mongolia US$100,000 - 100 Mining and exploitation of
natural resources
B 100,000% 7T - 100 RBEROERAER

BEREBZRERAA  gg
T -AFFR
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15.

16.

17.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 15.

* The Company is incorporated in the PRC as a wholly-owned
foreign enterprise.

# The Company is incorporated in the PRC as a limited liability
company.

The financial statements of the above subsidiaries were audited
by BDO Limited, for the statutory purpose and/or for the
purpose of the Group's consolidation.

TRADE RECEIVABLES 16.

Ageing analysis of the Group’s trade receivables as of the end
of reporting period, based on invoice date, is as follows:

RMEBARZRE (&)

* ZARP P B R RS EE
-

# ZARRHPREFMALBERAR -
R A R B S SRR T e BB 48

S EBRABRDBER UMEEE
AEk/ REAEEAHAR-

e & 5 AR K

AEBRBE R RNE S ERRRE
B BRE DT :

Group
Gl
2015 2014
HK$°000 HK$'000
—Z-8F —E—-mE
FHR Tz
Within 30 days 30H A 1,170 1,372
61-90 days 61290H 1,625 -
2,795 1,372

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing. Normal credit period
ranging from 30 to 90 days is allowed on sales of goods (2014:
60 to 90 days).

The Group's trade receivables are neither past due nor impaired
and they are related to customers for whom there are no recent
history of default.

ERESERAREE -REEERZ K
EFEEHNF308E0H (ZZE—MF:60
HZE90H) »

REEZ EWE 5 MR EE HIs0RE
BEDEIMYBENCHR TP AR -

=
INVENTORIES 17. #&
Group
A%E
2015 2014
HK$°000 HK$'000
—E—-E1F —E—mEF
TR FHE
Goods for resale EEEM 1,277 615
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18. DEPOSITS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 18. #& HttBUHRERAMNK
PREPAYMENTS b1 |
Group Company
rEE PN
2015 2014 2015 2014
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
—Z-8F —T—MF —Z-8F —T-lEF
FET FHET FHET FHET
Prepayments TET FRIA 1,739 155 7 155
Other receivables H fth FE U R IE 137 9 - -
Rental deposits Hekke - 2 - -
1,876 166 7 155
19. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 19. REREEHREEE
Group and Company TEBRAERQT
Cash and cash equivalents of the Group and the Company REBRARGIZRENERREBEE
represent the bank balances and cash. The bank deposits carry WITHMER € ZERITERIRRITH
interest at the prevailing market interest rates. SRR R
As at 31 March 2015, the Group had bank balance and cash R-E—RF=A=+—HB AEEHEA
denominated in Renminbi (“RMB"”) amounting to approximately MARE(TARE]DFEZETESR X
HK$14,130,000 (2014: Nil). RMB is not freely convertible into R4 /14,130,0008 70 (=& — U5
other currencies. The conversion of RMB into foreign currencies )  AREBATARLBRAHMEN - A
and remittance of RMB out of the PRC are subject to the rules R S AINE g A RS EE R B9 7838
and regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by SEAR BT AR A 2 SNE B IR R e OE R
the PRC government.
20. TRADE PAYABLES 20. BERESERN

Ageing analysis of the Group's trade payables, based on invoice

date, is as follows:

AEBEMNEIERIREZAHZERR
DT ¢

Group
AEE
2015 2014
HK$'000 HK$'000
—ZE-HF —E-NEF
FHERT FHET
Within 30 days 308 A - 1,248

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and normally settled on

terms of 30 days.

BN B BER BT B R —RIZ30AHR
BEAS o
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21. ACCRUED LIABILITIES AND OTHER 21. Bt ERHEMENSKE
PAYABLES
Group Company
AR AR
2015 2014 2015 2014
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
—E-HF —Z—MmF —E-fH4F —E—MmF
FHERT FET FET FHET
Accrued liabilities EstEE 1,150 827 1,150 827
Other payables H & < 5108 662 1,304 = -
1,812 2,131 1,150 827
22. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 22. BEHIBAE
Group rEE
Details of the deferred tax liabilities recognised and movements R EHE MR ERE AR SRR ZIRT
thereon during the current and prior reporting periods are as MEBAEREZHFELT:
follows:
Fair value

adjustment on
mining rights

gz
AR EFE
HK$'000
FHET
At 1 April 2013, 31 March 2014 and 1 April 2014 R-ZE—=FmWAE—Q8"
—E-NMFE=A=+—HK
—ET—-mFMm™A—H 163,913
Credit to profit or loss FFAET (16,484)
At 31 March 2015 RZE—RF=A=+—8 147,429
Deferred taxation is calculated in full on temporary differences RIERIET B B EERERT X25%
under the liability method using the principal tax rate of 25% (ZE—NF:25%) G HEERER -
(2014: 25%).
As at 31 March 2015, the Group had estimated unused tax RZE—RF=ZA=+—H X%
losses arising in Hong Kong of approximately HK$43,585,000 CREBESEZHAARADAHRES
(2014: HK$49,324,000) subject to the agreement of the Inland 8 4943,585,0008 70 (=& — U £ -
Revenue Department that are available for offset against future 49,324,000 7T) (FHRBBREE) 7TANA
taxable profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in B AR 2R s F o /B 7 R 2RE T AR 2 1 A
respect of such tax losses due to the unpredictability of future TEORINE - S MR 2 T IB B R R IR T
profit streams. The estimated tax losses can be carried forward HEE Bt BIEBE BB A -

indefinitely.
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23. SHARE CAPITAL 23. B
Group and Company AEERERQTA
Number of shares Amount
‘000 HK$'000
RE#E EX
Fg FHT
Ordinary shares ZER
Authorised: JERE
At 1 April 2013 at HK$0.01 RN-ZZE—=FMA—AH
per share FIREE0.01E T 172,833,333 1,728,333
Share consolidation (note (b)) D& o (FIsED)) (138,266,666) -
At 31 March 2014 and 2015 at RZE—UFER T —RHF
HK$0.05 per share =RA=+—H&KREEC.05E T 34,566,667 1,728,333
Issued and fully paid: BTN :
At 1 April 2013 at HK$0.01 per N_FE—=FMH—H
share HREE.OTE T 3,733,563 37,336
Issue of new shares at HK$0.01 AR EEO.01B LB TH R %
per share (note (a)) (M3E(@a)) 746,000 7,460
Share consolidation (note (b)) f% 3 & 6 (BisE(b) ) (3,583,650) -
At 31 March 2014 at HK$0.05 R-ZE—NFE=A=+—H
per share S IREE0.05% T 895,913 44,796
Issue of new shares at HK$0.05 LA B IR E{E0.0578 T BT H R D
per share (note (c)) (FF3E()) 150,000 7,500
At 31 March 2015 at HK$0.05 R-E—HF=A=+—H
per share SRR EE0.05%8 T 1,045,913 52,296
‘000 HK$'000
Fir FHT
Preference shares BER
Authorised: JERE
At 1 April 2013 at HK$0.01 per RZE—=FmA—H
share FRXEE0.0178 T 27,166,667 271,666
Share consolidation (note (b)) D& B (M sE®Db)) (21,733,334) -
At 31 March 2014 and 2015 at RZE-—OFER-_FT—HF
HK$0.05 per share = A=+—HEKHEE0.05ET 5,433,333 271,666
Issued and fully paid: BEITEER:
At 1 April 2013 and RZE—=FMWA—HE
31 March 2014 and 2015 TE—NER-ZT—RHF
=A=+—8H - -
AERERERERAA

T -AFFR
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23. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Group and Company (Continued)

(a)

On 17 October 2013, the Company completed a placing
of 746,000,000 new ordinary shares of the Company at
HK$0.047 per share. The net proceeds generated from
the placing amounting to HK$34,113,000 (net of share
issue expense of HK$949,000). The placing resulted in
the increase in share capital of HK$7,460,000 and share
premium of HK$26,653,000.

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 6
November 2013, a share consolidation was approved
with effect from 7 November 2013 in which (i) every
5 of the existing issued and unissued ordinary shares
of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company
were consolidated into 1 consolidated share having a
par value of HK$0.05 per share; and (ii) every 5 of the
existing unissued preference shares of HK$0.01 each
of the Company were consolidated into 1 consolidated
share having a par value of HK$0.05 per share (the
“Share Consolidation”). Immediately after the Share
Consolidation, the authorised ordinary share capital,
issued and fully paid ordinary share capital and
authorised preference shares of the Company comprised
34,566,667,000, 895,913,000 and 5,433,333,000
consolidated shares of HK$0.05 each respectively.

On 15 May 2014, the Company completed the
allotment and issue of 150,000,000 new ordinary
shares at HK$0.56 per share. The net proceeds derived
from the subscription amounted to HK$84,000,000
and resulted in the increase in share capital of
HK$7,500,000 and share premium of HK$76,500,000.
Details of the subscription were set out in the
circular of the Company dated 15 April 2014 and the
announcement of the Company dated 15 May 2014.
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23. B& (@)

AKEBRKXQT (&)

(a)

(b)

RZE-—Z=F+A++tH XRREST
1% & 10.047 7% T 55 X BL & 746,000,000
Rz AR EBR - BL&EPTEEZF
SR F 5 A34,113,000/8 7T (FIER AR
1847513 949,00058 7T ) - Bl & g
7n7,460,0007% 7T f% A £226,653,0007%

TERD 5 (B o

BER-_Z—=F+—ABRBZ
LRRER ROABHEMRELTR =T
—=F+—AtBEH EROHERA]
RS GRFREEOVE LB
TRABTRBLRRAFAIREE
#0.05B Tz &0 IR M R>()VA DR F
SBREREEARCOABTLZAEITES
BEREHRIREMBEROGETZE
BERR D (THR D& BF]) - BEERR 1D & HF
B ARAZEEEBRA BEITR
R EBBRAUREEELRDBIEE
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24. RESERVES

Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the

24.

(R

AEE

AEBZFBEBERERANFEMBESF
BZEBBERPBHRREORGAERE

consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 50 of the FBRAZY
financial statements.
Company ¥ N
Share Contributed Accumulated
premium surplus losses Total
(note (a)) (note (b)) (note (d))
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B EE BRR BitER Fo
(HizE(@)) (Hi3E(b)) (M 3E@d))
FHIT FHT FHT FHIT
At 1 April 2013 RZZE—=FWA—H 734,069 159,393 (178,652) 714,810
Issue of shares (note 23(a)) BTG
(PH5E23(a)) 26,653 - - 26,653
Loss for the year FREE - - (6,315) (6,315)
At 31 March 2014 and RZZE—F
1 April 2014 ZR=+—HE
“Z—-NFNA—H 760,722 159,393 (184,967) 735,148
Issue of shares (note 23(c)) BT
(BI#E23(c)) 76,500 - - 76,500
Loss for the year FREE - - (236,585) (236,585)
At 31 March 2015 R-Z-1F
=A=+—H 837,222 159,393 (421,552) 575,063
BREBREZERERADA

T -AFFR
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24. RESERVES (continued) 24.

Company (Continued)

Notes:

(a) Share premium
Amount subscribed for share capital in excess of nominal value.

(b) Contributed surplus
The contributed surplus of the Group arose as a result of the
Group reorganisation prior to its public listing on 2 October
1995 and represents the difference between the nominal value
of the shares of the former holding company of the Group
acquired pursuant to the Group reorganisation, over the
nominal value of the shares of the Company issued in exchange
therefore.

(c) Exchange fluctuation reserve

Gains/losses are arising on retranslating the net assets of
foreign operations into presentation currency.

(d) Accumulated losses

Cumulative net gains and losses recognised in profit or loss.

25. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 25.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
commitments for total future minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases, which the Group is a lessee
are as follows:

& ()

FNUNCIRE )

B 5 -

(a) B EE
RERACHEBHEAEZRE

(b) BEHRH
REB 2 BEHRARAAEER—NNE
FTAZBARLEmRETSREEAM
E4 - DEREBEAEESAMBEAS

B A AR Y ) 2 B T - B R R IR
BMBEBTZARRBNEEZIER

(9 BE 5% B 1 4

BONEBNFEESHRERZINEYE
EAMBRRD-

@  RitEm
B8 2 R R0 BB M B R -
REEORRE

RB|EHRR NEBRBECATHELZHE
#)

E:
(R E AR A) RRBIER S
HmmmT

Group Company
AEE N
2015 2014 2015 2014
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
—E-RF —E-mF —E-RF —E—mF
THER FET FTHERT FET
Within one year —F A 239 274 180 270

Operating lease payments represent rental payable by the
Group for its office premises. The leases typically run for an
initial period of 12 months (2014: 14 months). None of the
leases include contingent rental.
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26. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

26.

BEEALXRS

(a) Save as disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, (a) PREF TS FR R E M 5 Fr TR E A
the following transactions were carried out by the AT AR B R AR BB E A+
Group and the Company with related parties: ETZRS

2015 2014
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
—E-RF —T-NEF
Bt 5 FHET FET
Rental expenses paid to a XN T-—HBEERAFZ
related company Hexd (i) 340 150
Rental income and RE—EBEARZ
management fee received HeEWARERE
from a related company (ii) - 394
Notes: M 5T
(i) Rental expenses paid to a related company, in which (i) T -—HEER (%@?ﬁ
Mr. Mung Kin Keung and Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan are FEREGXAEREHAR
common directors, were made according to the terms F)zHeH HIREHEE Tﬁ/’y
of the lease agreement. ARREIES -
(ii) Rental and management fee income derived from a (i) KE—MBEERR (BKkRE

related company, in which Mr. Ha Wing Ho, Mr Mung
Kin Keung, Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan and Mr. Chee
Man Sang, Eric are the common executive directors,
were made according to the terms of the lease
agreement.

(b) The compensation of key management personnel,
who are also the directors of the Company, has been
disclosed in note 12 to the financial statements.

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The Group is exposed to financial risks through its use of
financial instruments in its ordinary course of operations. The
financial risks included market risk (including currency risk and
interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group does
not have written risk management policies and guidelines.
However, the directors meet periodically to analyse and
formulate measures to manage the Group’s exposure to the
financial risk, including principally changes in interest rates and
currency exchange rates.

27.

£REBEL RMXELER
MREFREREARNITES)
ZHEEREEBERA DHIRE
HE R IERIEL -

by FEEBAB(NAARAZE
)2 HEHE R BREME12R
W= o

BHEBEERQFERE

AEEREAREBPEASRTAMA
RUBER - MBRREBETSAR (2
O B AN A R R R ) - A R S B R R
Erttak AEEYEETMZARE
Eﬁ RISl - AT EFSEHETE
T B E SRS LA B IR AN S [ P
ZM%HR’ BE T BM N KB B K [E X

=4

=) °
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27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 27. BIBEREER AFETE

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) (#)

Generally, the Group employs a conservative strategy regarding —Rms AEBRERREIEHEITRST
its risk management. As the Group's exposure to market K -BARAEEREY 25 ERERS
risk is kept at a minimum level, the Group has not used any PMEK T REE A & BE [ PTESKEH
derivatives or other instruments for hedging purposes. The fih T B AR A o RE B I EIFH 31T
Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments TESRMI BN EES -AEBFEE
for trading purposes. The most significant financial risks to TESAMBEBEIDOT -

which the Group is exposed are described below.

(a) Categories of financial assets and (a) BIBEEREBEDE
liabilities
The carrying amounts of the Group's financial assets AREBNREHRAERZTEE
and liabilities recognised at the end of reporting periods ENBENERESENT -EH
are categorised as follows. See notes 4(f)(i) and 4(f) R TAEDBENMAEERER
(iii) for explanations on how the category of financial 1% 75 8 7 R R M sE4E) () R A)
instruments affects their subsequent measurement. (iii) °
Group
FEE
2015 2014
HK$°000 HK$'000
“E-RF —E-mF
FET FET
Financial assets B EE
Loans and receivables: B K PE R
— Trade receivables *[‘%Hﬁlfé%ﬂ%ﬂ 2,795 1,372
— Deposits and other receivables —¥z e & H M ERGRIE 137 11
Cash and cash equivalents RBeREFERIBELIAEE 97,361 24,514
100,293 25,897
Financial liabilities i =R
At amortised cost: O B AR
— Trade payables —-ENEZER - 1,248
— Accrued liabilities and —[EFH B B R H b~ FE
other payables 1,812 2,131
1,812 3,379
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27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 27.
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(@) Categories of financial assets and
liabilities (Continued)

MERRBEERQFEFE
(%)

(a) MBEEREEBSE (&)

Company
F: NN
2015 2014
HK$°000 HK$'000
—E—AF —E-NE
FET FET
Financial assets BBREE
Loans and receivables: B O
— Amounts due from subsidiaries — W B AR ZKIE 545,464 759,427
Cash and cash equivalents HekERIRELEE 82,991 22,233
628,455 781,660
Financial liabilities HMBAaE
At amortised cost: R SR -
— Amount due to a subsidiary — R —HEMEB AR 2 HIE - 1,051
— Accrued liabilities and other —EETAE R E M ENRIE
payables 1,150 827
1,150 1,878

(b) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value
or cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates.

The Group has interest-bearing assets in relation to
cash at banks and short-term bank deposits carried at
effective interest rates with reference to the market.
The Group's income and operating cash flows are
substantially independent of changes in market interest
rates. The Group has not used any financial instrument
to hedge potential fluctuations in interest rates. The
exposure to interest rate risk for the Group’s cash at
banks is considered minimal.

The policies to manage interest rate risk have been
followed by the Group since prior years and are
considered to be effective.

(b) F=REME

MERERBRTIBEBEMETARFES
RenelmEiEESHmEsz
[

AEBFHBEE FRAZEM
B2 ERMEFEZRITRERE
HIRITIE R - ARB 2 WA R EE
RERERIBA BN TSN K E
B AEBELARERETAPBIA
B AENRKE REBRITHR
B2 M R B 1R R A o

ARE S BEFEAR - EETE
BRERBZHE  TRAXER
EEH

BREBREZERERADA
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27.

to the Financial Statement:

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(c)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty
to a financial instrument would fail to discharge its
obligation under the terms of the financial instrument
and cause a financial loss to the Group. The Group's
credit risk is primarily attributable to trade receivables
and cash and cash equivalents. The carrying amounts
of these financial assets presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position are net of impairment
losses, if any. Management has a credit policy in place
and the exposures to these credit risks are monitored on
an ongoing basis.

In respect of trade receivables, individual credit
evaluations are performed on all customers requiring
credit over a certain amount. These evaluations focus
on the customer’s past history of making payments
when due and current ability to pay, and take into
account information specific to the customer as well as
pertaining to the economic environment in which the
customer operates. The Group does not obtain collateral
from other customers. Further quantitative disclosure
in respect of the Group's exposure to credit risk arising
from trade receivables are set out in note 16.

The Group has deposited its cash with various banks.
The credit risk on cash and bank balances is limited
because most of the Group’'s bank deposits are
deposited with major banks located in Hong Kong and
the PRC.

The policies to manage credit risk have been followed by
the Group since prior year are considered to have been
effective.
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27.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(d)

(e)

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that the fair
value or future cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange
rates. The Group mainly operates and invests in
Hong Kong, the PRC and Mongolia with most of the
transactions denominated and settled in HK$, RMB and
MNT respectively. No material foreign currency risk has
been identified for the monetary assets and liabilities in
Hong Kong, the PRC and Mongolia as they were largely
denominated in a currency same as the functional
currency of the Hong Kong, the PRC and Mongolian
entities to which these transactions related. The Group
has not entered into any derivative instrument to
hedge the foreign exchange exposures, however, the
management continuously monitors foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign
exchange exposure should the need arise.

The policies to manage foreign current risk have been
followed by the Group since prior year are considered to
be effective.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will not
able to meet its obligation associated with its financial
liabilities. The Group’s objective is to ensure adequate
funds to meet commitments associated with its financial
liabilities. Cash flows are closely monitored on an
ongoing basis. The Group will raise funds from the
realisation of its assets if required.

27.

BHEBEERQFEFE

(#&)

(d)

(e)

S R B

SNERBIESRIAZ AREEN
R IR IR 7 PR B S S ) 1 R B 2 [
o AEBMIEREE FERRR
HREMRE MABIRHHIA
BT ARBERFHERERRE
NEEE -ARER PERRA
ENEERBBE EREMEARE
RPZEE PERELERZY
BEEEAER S BRI EBARINE
BB e ARBE A AR SLAEFMITET
B MINER G - A BEE
FAEBEINERR W HNBRE
B S B K SN L B o

AEBABEFENR—BHETE
BINERR 2R YR BZF K
RBEX-

REE £ R

MEVE SRR EAEERERETT
VBB EREEEZBARAR K
KEZBRERNBRES TR NAM
REAZHEBZHMBAGB - RER
ECRHERYEE AEEER
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27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(e) Liquidity risk (Continued)

At the end of each reporting periods, the remaining

contractual maturity of the Group’s and the Company's

financial liabilities which are based on undiscounted

cash flows are summaries below:

27. BEEAREERAFENE

(#&)

(e)

23

nEE S m R ()

22

=t

=
=

Group
AEE

BEREHR REBEABRRRER
EREZAEBRARRZHER
ZHTANERIFERBRAT -

Total contractual

On demand or undiscounted Carrying
within 1 year cash flows amount
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRRER
RERG—FR BeRERE SREE
FiET FTiET FHET
31 March 2015 —E-HAF=H=1+—H
Accrued liabilities and EFBER
other payables H {th JE {3 5B 1,812 1,812 1,812
31 March 2014 ZE-mF=A=1+—H
Trade payables [ERTE SRR 1,248 1,248 1,248
Accrued liabilities and [EstBER
other payables H fth & 5 5UIR 2,131 2,131 2,131
3,379 3,379 3,379
Company
ARAH
Total contractual
On demand or undiscounted Carrying
within 1 year cash flows Amount
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BHRER
RERF—FR BeRERAE BRME B
FEx FTiEx FET
31 March 2015 —E-Rf=A=+-H
Accrued liabilities and [EETBER
other payables H fth & 5 508 1,150 1,150 1,150
31 March 2014 —E-NF=RA=+—H
Accrued liabilities and B BER
other payables H At JE 5 508 827 827 827
Amount due to a subsidiary [ — RN B R R 2 FUE 1,051 1,051 1,051
1,878 1,878 1,878
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27.

28.

EE=ZA=+—HR

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(f)  Fair value risk

The directors consider that the fair values of the Group’s
and the Company’s financial assets and financial
liabilities are not materially different from their carrying
amounts because of the immediate and short term
maturity of these financial instruments.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management
is to ensure that it maintains a healthy capital ratio in order
to support its business and maximise shareholders value.
The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior
year. The directors actively review the capital structure on a
continuing basis. As part of this review, the directors consider
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of
capital. Based on recommendations of the directors, the Group
will balance its overall capital structure through the new shares
issues, the issue of new debts or the redemption of existing
debts. The management regards total equity as capital. The
amount of capital as at 31 March 2015 and 2014 amounted
to approximately HK$625,813,000 and HK$596,952,000
respectively which the management considers as optimal having
considered the projected capital expenditures and projected
strategic investment opportunities.

27.

28.

MERRBEERQFEFE
(%)

(f) 2FERR

EEZRSHNERER T ALK
RHANRE AR E R AQEH
BEERBBEAFEEAREEL
BEREZR-

EXEHE

FEBENTEERAERER/RERELATE
FRENERLE UXFHEBRAR
REDMFKEDR - AEEEERMEEF
HE -ZEFHEEGREHNERNEB -ER
BBz —#t EFEEEARRAE R HE
XE%E$@@ZHA AEEBREE
EZEF BEBRBOHR FBEH AR
@ﬁﬁ%%ﬁiﬁﬁ%ﬁé$%%°%ﬁ
BREEZAERA R_Z—HAFR_F

—ME=—A=t-HANERLEZA /Y
625,813,000/ JT }2596,952,000/% 7T - H
MEEECDERINERHEAMI RIEAR
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29. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

(i)

On 29 May 2015, the Company and a placing
agent (the “Placing Agent”) entered into a deed
of termination (”“2015 Placing Termination Deed”)
in respect of the placing agreement (the "Placing
Agreement”), pursuant to which the Company has
conditionally agreed to place through the Placing Agent
up to 420,000,000 placing shares (“Placing Shares”)
at a price of HK$0.56 per Placing Share, subject to
adjustment. With effect of the 2015 Placing Termination
Deed on 29 May 2015, it was agreed among the parties
that the Placing Agreement would be irrevocably and
unconditionally terminated in all respects by the mutual
consent of the parties and would be of no further force.

On 29 May 2015, being the long stop date, the
subscription agreement dated 3 February 2015 (the
“Subscription Agreement”), pursuant to which a
subscriber has conditionally agreed to subscribe for and
the Company has conditionally agreed to allot and issue
a total of 880,000,000 shares (“Subscription Shares”)
at an issue price of HK$0.56 per Subscription Share,
was lapsed due to the conditions to completion of the
Subscription Agreement have not been fulfilled on the
same date.

The directors consider that the termination of the
Placing Agreement and the lapse of the Subscription
Agreement has no material adverse impact on the
existing business operation and financial position of
the Group. Details of the termination and the lapse
of the subscription were set out in the Company’s
announcement on 31 May 2015.

On 13 June 2015, the Company and another placing
agent entered into a placing agreement pursuant
to which the Company has conditionally agreed to
place a maximum of 205,000,000 placing shares
to independent investors at a price of HK$0.88 per
share. The net proceeds are intended to be used as
general working capital of the Group and for potential
acquisition activities as identified by the Group from
time to time, details of which have been set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 15 June 2015.
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